# FRACTIONAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN NONREFLEXIVE BANACH SPACES



Name : Ghaus ur Rahman

Year of Admission : 2009

Registration No. : <u>102-GCU-PHD-SMS-09</u>

Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences GC University Lahore, Pakistan

## FRACTIONAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN NONREFLEXIVE BANACH SPACES

#### Submitted to

Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences

GC University Lahore, Pakistan

in the partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of degree of

### **Doctor of Philosophy**

in

#### **Mathematics**

By

Name : Ghaus ur Rahman

Year of Admission : 2009

Registration No. : <u>102-GCU-PHD-SMS-09</u>

# Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences GC University Lahore, Pakistan

### **DECLARATION**

I, Mr. Ghaus ur Rahman Registration No. 102-GCU-PHD-SMS-09 student at Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences GC University in the subject of Mathematics, Year of Admission (2009), hereby declare that the matter printed in this thesis titled

# "FRACTIONAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN NONREFLEXIVE BANACH SPACES"

is my own work and that

- (i) I am not registered for the similar degree elsewhere contemporaneously.
- (ii) No direct major work had already been done by me or anybody else on this topic; I worked on, for the Ph. D. degree.
- (iii) The work, I am submitting for the Ph. D. degree has not already been submitted elsewhere and shall not in future be submitted by me for obtaining similar degree from any other institution.

Dated:	
	Signature

### **RESEARCH COMPLETION CERTIFICATE**

Certified that the research work contained in this thesis titled

# "FRACTIONAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN NONREFLEXIVE BANACH SPACES"

has been carried out and completed by Mr. Ghan	us ur Rahman Registration No
102-GCU-PHD-SMS-09 under my supervision.	
Date	Supervisor
	Prof. Dr Vasile Lupulescu
Submitted Through	
Prof. Dr. A. D. Raza Choudary	
Director General	Controller of Examination
Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences	GC University, Lahore
GC University, Lahore, Pakistan	Pakistan

# Contents

1	$\operatorname{Pre}$	liminaries and Introduction	5
	1.1	Introduction	5
	1.2	Preliminaries	10
	1.3	Differentiability in Banach Spaces	12
	1.4	Integration in Banach Spaces	13
	1.5	Weak Measure of Non-Compactness and Weak variant of Arcoli-Arzela	
		Theorem	17
<b>2</b>	Pse	udo Solution for Fractional Differential Equations	19
	2.1	Fractional Pettis integral and Abel integral equation	19
	2.2	Fractional Pseudo-Derivative	24
	2.3	Differential Equations With Fractional Pseudo-Derivatives	29
	2.4	An Existence Results of Fractional Differential Equation	30
	2.5	Conclusions	35
3	Mu	lti-term Fractional Differential Equation	36
	3.1	Multi-term Fractional Differential Equations	36
	3.2	Existence of Solution	37
	3.3	Conclusion	43
4 Weak Solution For Fractional I		ak Solution For Fractional Differential Equation	44
	4.1	Preliminaries	44
	4.2	Vector-Valued Fractional Integral And Abel Integral Equation	45
	4.3	Differential Equation With Caputo Weak Derivatives	54
	4 4	Conclusions	60

#### Acknowledgements

Many people have contributed making my journey a fruitful one. Hence I shall take the opportunity to thank them all and acknowledge their contribution.

Firstly, I am very grateful to my doctoral supervisor Professor Dr. Vasile Lupulescu for all his help, advices, suggestions and criticism regarding our project over the last three years. His enthusiasm and professional work ethic are standards that I will always aspire to emulate. His faith in my abilities and insistence on being independent in research constantly pushed me forward. I must also thank him for all the visits to the Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences, which would inject in me a healthy dose of mathematical enthusiasm right after the unrelenting Summer in Lahore.

The list of acknowledgments would be incomplete without mentioning Professor A.D. Raza Choudary, Director General of the Abdus Salam School of Mathematical Sciences. His perseverance towards an ideal, constantly braving a multitude of hurdles is a source of inspiration and awe for me. I shall remain indebted to him for having great confidence in my abilities and most importantly for his understanding.

My special thanks to Professor Dr. Ravi.P.Agarwal, Chair of the Department of Mathematics in Texas A&M University-Kingsville USA and to Dr.Donal O'Regan, Professor at School of Mathematics, Statistics and Applied Mathematics, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland.

The staff at ASSMS deserve special mention. In this regard I would like to thank Awais Naeem, Shahbaz Ali, Shoukat Ali Rahmat, Javid Iqbal, Aqeel etc.

Moreover, I wish to thank all the foreign professors at ASSMS (for they made ASSMS, a true place of knowledge). Here I should mention Prof. Dr. Oleg I Reinov, Prof. Dr. Tzanko D. Donchev, Prof. Dr. Barbu Berceanu, Prof. Dr. Alexander Meskhi, Prof. Dr. Constantin P. Niculescu, Prof. Dr. Tiberiu Dumitrescu and Prof. Dr. Malkhaz Shashiashvili who taught me so much valuable information during my stay in ASSMS. I thank all my fellow colleagues at ASSMS especially my closer friends for being with me when I needed them.

I would like to thank my family, my parents, sisters and brothers, Dr.Diljan, Zulqarnan and Shahid Rahman. Furthermore my special thanks to my cousins, friends and relatives (Late) Sultan Hussain, Ibrar Hussain, Akber Hussain, Abdul Nasar, Shah Hussain, Syed Abdul Kaber, Zahir Shah, Saleem Khan, Dildar, S. Hussain, Tariq Jameel, Mastan AB Zaid and Ali Zonnorain. This work is a tribute to their sacrifice, to their pain of living life without me for the best part of a decade. Without their prayers, love, encouragement, wishes of my mother and sisters and the role of my father as my personal manager over the years, this work would have been inconceivable.

Also I would like to thanks with depth of my heart Mr: Munawar Khan, MPA Lakki Marwat district who helped me in curial situation during IDP's. Finally I would like to thank some of my closest friends Mr. Muhammad Kamal, with whom I spend my childhood and my best friend in my life, Amir Khan, Qari Muhammad Saeed, Ghulam Hussain, Sant Ram Chawla, Khan Bahadar, Navid Aalam and Aqqal Nawab.

A very special thanks to my thesis refries for their nice comments and remarks.

It is my duty to acknowledge the financial support provided by the Higher Education Commission and Government of the Punjab throughout the process of completing the present thesis.

Ghaus ur Rahman ASSMS, GC University Lahore, Pakistan, 2013.

#### Abstract

This thesis is devoted to fractional calculus in nonreflexive Banach spaces and existence results for the fractional differential equations. Using fractional Pettis integral and fractional pseudo-derivative, we discussed fractional calculus and fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology. We obtained some results on existence of solution of fractional differential equations. Furthermore, applying fractional Pettis integral and fractional pseudo-derivative we discussed the existence of solution of multi-term fractional differential equation, in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology. Finally, assuming the concept of Riemann-Pettis integral, we introduced and studied the notions of fractional Riemann-Pettis integral and fractional Caputo weak derivative. Using these tool we obtained an existence result for weak solution of fractional differential equations in a nonreflexive Banach space equipped with the weak topology.

# Chapter 1

### Preliminaries and Introduction

#### 1.1 Introduction

The mathematical field that deals with derivatives of any real order is called fractional calculus. For a long time, it was only considered as a pure mathematical branch. Nevertheless, during the last two decades, fractional calculus has attracted the attention of many researchers and it has been successfully applied in various areas like computational biology, computational fluid dynamics and economics *etc* [80].

The study of first order ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces (reflexive or not) equipped with the weak topology was initiated in the 1950's. Let E be Banach space and let  $f(\cdot, \cdot) : [a, b] \times E \to E$  be continuous. It is well known that if E is finite dimensional, then for each  $(t_0, y_0) \in [a, b) \times E$ , there exists a continuous differentiable function  $y(\cdot)$  which is a solution of the Cauchy problem

$$y'(t) = f(t, y(t)), \quad y(t_0) = y_0,$$
 (1.1.1)

on some open interval which contains  $t_0$ . In 1950, Dieudonné [32] showed that in the case  $E = \mathbf{c}_0$  the Cauchy problem (1.1.1) has no solutions for every continuous function  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$ .

The notion of the measure of non-compactness was introduced by Kuratowski [51] in 1930. Ambrosetti [8] was first one who had an idea to use the Kuratowski measure of non-compactness and Darbo fixed point theorem to prove an existence result for (1.1.1) in infinite dimensional Banach spaces. Szep [86] was the first author related to the existence of weak solutions for (1.1.1), where  $f(\cdot, \cdot) : [a, b] \times E \to E$  is a

weakly continuous and E is a reflexive Banach space. Chow and Schuur [24] treated the case where E is separable and reflexive  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is a weakly continuous function with bounded range. Kato in [46] shown that if  $f(\cdot, \cdot) : [a, b] \times B_E[y_0, r] \to E$  is weakly continuous, then all we needed to assure the existence of solutions to (1.1.1) is the relatively weak compactness of  $f([a, b] \times B_E[y_0, r])$ . Pianigiani [69] shown that in every nonreflexive rectractive Banach space there exists a weakly continuous function  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  such that (1.1.1) does not have a weak solution, and Perri [66] showed that this property is true in every nonreflexive Banach space.

The measure of weak non-compactness was introduced by De Blasi [27], and it was used by Cramer, Lakshmikantham and Mitchell [23] to obtain an existence result for weak solutions of (1.1.1) in nonreflexive Banach spaces. Using the measure of weak non-compactness, Cichoń [17], Cichoń and Kubiaczyk [19], Dutkiewicz and Szufla [34], Gomaa [40], O'Regan [62], [64], have improved and generalized previous results. For a review of this topic we refer to Cichoń [18], Deimling [28], Hashem [43] and Teixeira [89].

The existence of weak solution of differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology was studied for the first time by Cramer et.al [23]. The authors imposed weak compactness type conditions in terms of the measure of weak non-compactness. Moreover, for existence and uniqueness of solution, the authors imposed weak dissipative type conditions. Using these existence and partial ordering induced by cones, existence of extremal solutions and comparison results to the weak topology are also proved in this article.

In recent years, fractional differential equations in Banach spaces has been studied intensively. The general literature on fractional differential equations in finite or infinite dimensional Banach spaces is extensive and considers different topics on the existence and qualitative properties of solutions are considered. Concerning the literature on fractional differential equations we refer to the books [55], [80] and the references cited therein. Only a few papers consider fractional differential equations in reflexive Banach spaces equipped with the weak topology e.g [3], [13], [14], [43], [74], [76].

In [74], Salem et.al defined the fractional order Pettis-integral operator in reflexive Banach spaces and also investigated the properties of such operator. Fur-

thermore, the authors used O'Regan fixed point theorem (see [64]), to establish an existence result for nonlinear Pettis-fractional order integral equations of the type

$$x(t) = g(t) + \lambda I^{q} f(\cdot, x(\cdot)), \ t \in [0, 1], \ 0 < q < 1.$$

Moreover, the authors exhibit the existence of solution of Cauchy problem

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, D^q x(t)), \ t \in [0, 1], \quad x(0) = x_0.$$

In [76], the author used O'Regan fixed point theorem (see [64]) to establish an existence of solution for the fractional order integral equation

$$x(t) = g(t) + \lambda I^{q} f(\cdot, x(\cdot)), \quad t \in [0, 1], \quad q > 0,$$

where f is nonlinear weakly-weakly continuous. Moreover, the authors exhibit the solution of Cauchy problem

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x(t)), \quad t \in [0, 1], \quad x(0) = x_0.$$

Some of the recent progress in this direction are [13], [14], [73]. For a recent review of this topic we refer to [43].

So for, we discussed those differential equations which contain only one differential operator. Nevertheless, in certain cases we need to solve fractional differential equations containing more than one differential operators. This type of fractional differential equation is called multi-term fractional differential equation. Multi-term fractional differential equations also have numerous applications in physical sciences and other branches of sciences [29]. The existence of the solutions of multi-term fractional differential equations was studied by many authors [11, 25, 26, 75, 77, 78]. The main tool used in [11, 25, 26], is the Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem on a cone while the main tool used in [77], is the technique associated with the measure of non-compactness and fixed point theorem. In [77], the author exhibits the existence of monotonic solution for the multi-term fractional differential equations in Banach spaces, using Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative and no compactness condition is assumed on the nonlinearity of the function f.

In [75], the author studied the existence of weak solution of the Cauchy problem in reflexive Banach spaces equipped with weak topology, the author imposed weak-weak continuity assumption on f. Similarly in [78], the author exhibits the existence

of global monotonic solution for the Cauchy problem, the author assumed f to be Carathéodory which has linear growth.

This dissertation is devoted to fractional calculus in nonreflexive Banach spaces and existence results for the fractional differential equations. Using Pettis integral and fractional pseudo derivative we present more general results for the existence of solutions to fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology. Assume the following fractional differential equation

$$\begin{cases}
D^q y(t) = f(t, y(t)), t \in T, \\
y(0) = y_0
\end{cases}$$
(1.1.2)

where  $D^q$  is a fractional pseudo-derivative, f is given function, and T is a bounded interval of real numbers such that  $0 \in T$  and E is a nonreflexive Banach space. Furthermore, we also establish an existence result for multi-term fractional differential equation,

$$\left(D^{\alpha_m} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} a_i D^{\alpha_i}\right) u(t) = f(t, u(t)) \text{ for } t \in [0, 1], u(0) = 0, \tag{1.1.3}$$

where  $D^{\alpha_m}$  and  $D^{\alpha_i}$  are fractional pseudo-derivative of order  $\alpha_m$  and  $\alpha_i$ ,  $i=1,2,\ldots,m-1$ , respectively. The function  $f(t,\cdot):[0,1]\times E\to E$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous for every  $t\in[0,1]$  and  $f(\cdot,u(\cdot))$  is Pettis integrable for every weakly absolutely continuous function  $u(\cdot):[0,1]\to E$ , where E is nonreflexive Banach space,  $0<\alpha_1<\alpha_2<\ldots<\alpha_m<1$  and  $a_1,a_2\ldots a_{m-1}$  are real numbers such that  $a:=\sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\frac{|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m-\alpha_i+1)}<1$ , and  $\Gamma(\cdot)$  is the Euler's gamma function.

Finally, we exhibit an existence result for weak solution of fractional differential equation (1.1.2), where  $D^q$  is a fractional Caputo-derivative, f is a given function, T is a bounded interval of real numbers and E is a nonreflexive Banach space.

#### **Personal Contributions:**

The results of this thesis are based on the following articles.

- [3] R.P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equation in nonreflexive Banach spaces, *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation* (to appear).
- [4] R.P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Multi-term Fractional Differential Equation in nonreflexive Banach spaces, *Advances in Difference Equation*, 2013, 2013:302.

[5] R.P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Weak Solution for Fractional Differential Equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces via Riemann Pettis integral, Mathematische Nachrichten, (to appear)

In the paper [3], using fractional Pettis integral and fractional pseudo-derivative, we discussed fractional calculus and fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology. Our contribution about properties of fractional Pettis integral and fractional Pseudo-derivative can be found in chapter 2. We gave some results on existence of solution of fractional differential equations and equivalence between integral equation and Cauchy equation. The results of this paper can be found in chapter 2.

In the paper [4], using fractional Pettis integral and fractional pseudo-derivative we discussed the existence of solution of multi-term fractional differential equation, in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology.

In the paper [5], using the concept of Riemann-Pettis integral, we introduced and studied the notions of fractional Riemann-Pettis integral and fractional Caputo weak derivative. Using these tool we obtain an existence result for fractional differential equations in a nonreflexive Banach space equipped with the weak topology.

#### 1.2 Preliminaries

Let E be a Banach space with the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  and let  $E^*$  be the topological dual of E. If  $x^* \in E^*$ , then its value on an element  $x \in E$  will be denoted by  $\langle x^*, x \rangle$ . The space E endowed with the weak topology  $\sigma(E, E^*)$  will be denoted by  $E_w$ . Consider an interval T = [0, b] of  $\mathbb{R}$ , the set of real numbers, endowed with the Lebesgue  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{L}(T)$  and the Lebesgue measure  $\lambda$ . A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be almost separable valued if there exists a null set  $N \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that  $x(T \setminus N)$  is a separable set in E (equivalently,  $x(T \setminus N)$  is contained in a separable closed subspace of E.

**Definition 1.2.1.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *strongly measurable* on T if there exists a sequence of simple functions  $x_n(\cdot): T \to E$  such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n(t) = x(t)$  for a.e.  $t \in T$ .

**Definition 1.2.2.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be weakly measurable (or scalarly measurable) on T if for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real valued function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is Lebesgue measurable on T.

**Definition 1.2.3.** Let x(t) be a function from T into E. Then x(t) is weakly continuous at  $t_0$  if for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , the scalar function  $\langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is continuous at  $t_0$ .

**Remark 1.2.1.** (Pettis theorem) It is well known that a weakly measurable and almost separable valued function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is strongly measurable ([67, Theorem 1.1]).

Further, we also assume the set of all measurable functions from T to  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $(T, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a measure space. We denote by  $L^p(T)$  the space of all real measurable functions  $f: T \to \mathbb{R}$ , whose absolute value raised to the p-th power has finite integral, or equivalently, that

$$||f||_p \equiv \left(\int_T |f|^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty,$$

where  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . Moreover by  $L^{\infty}(T)$  we denote, the space of all measurable and essentially bounded real functions defined on T. Let C(T, E) denote the space of

all strongly continuous functions  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , endowed with the supremum norm  $||y(\cdot)||_c = \sup_{t \in T} ||y(t)||$ . Also, we consider the space C(T, E) with its weak topology  $\sigma(C(T, E), C(T, E)^*)$ . It is known that (see [33, 82])

$$C(T, E)^* = M(T, E^*),$$

where  $M(T, E^*)$  is the space of all bounded regular vector measures from  $\mathcal{B}(T)$  into  $E^*$  which are of bounded variation. Here,  $\mathcal{B}(T)$  denotes the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel measurable subsets of T. Therefore, a sequence  $\{y_n(\cdot)\}_{n\geq 1}$  converges weakly to  $y(\cdot)$  in  $C(T_0, E)$  if and only if

$$\langle m(\cdot), y_n(\cdot) - y(\cdot) \rangle \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
 (1.2.1)

for all  $m(\cdot) \in M(T_0, E^*)$ . In [59, Lemma 9] it is shown that a sequence  $\{y_n(\cdot)\}_{n\geq 1}$  converges weakly to  $y(\cdot)$  in  $C(T_0, E)$ ) if and only if  $y_n(t)$  tends weakly to y(t) for each  $t \in T$ .

By  $C_w(T, E)$  we will denote the space of all weakly continuous functions from T into  $E_w$  endowed with the topology of weak uniform convergence. A set  $N \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  is called a null set if  $\lambda(N) = 0$ .

**Definition 1.2.4.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be absolutely continuous on T (AC, for short) if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\left\| \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left[ x(b_k) - x(a_k) \right] \right\| < \varepsilon$$

for every finite disjoint family  $\{(a_k, b_k); 1 \leq k \leq m\}$  of subintervals of T such that  $\sum_{k=1}^{m} (b_k - a_k) < \delta$ . If the last inequality is replaced by  $\sum_{k=1}^{m} ||x(b_k) - x(a_k)|| < \varepsilon$ , then we say that  $x(\cdot)$  is a *strongly absolutely continuous* (sAC) function.

**Definition 1.2.5.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be weakly absolutely continuous (wAC) on T if for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real valued function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is AC on T.

**Remark 1.2.2.** Each sAC function is an AC function, and each AC function is a wAC function. If E is a weakly sequentially complete space, then every wAC function is an AC function ([48]).

#### 1.3 Differentiability in Banach Spaces

In this section we will recall some notion about differentiability in Banach spaces.

**Definition 1.3.1.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *strongly differentiable at*  $t_0 \in T$  if there exists an element  $x_s'(t_0) \in E$  such that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left\| \frac{x(t_0 + h) - x(t_0)}{h} - x_s'(t_0) \right\| = 0.$$

The element  $x'_s(t_0)$  will be also denoted by  $\frac{d_s}{dt}x(t_0)$  and it is called the *strong derivative* of  $x(\cdot)$  at  $t_0 \in T$ .

**Definition 1.3.2.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be weakly differentiable at  $t_0 \in T$  if there exists an element  $x'_w(t_0) \in E$  such that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left\langle x^*, \frac{x(t_0 + h) - x(t_0)}{h} \right\rangle = \left\langle x^*, x'_w(t_0) \right\rangle$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . The element  $x'_w(t_0)$  will be also denoted by  $\frac{d_w}{dt}x(t_0)$  and it is called the *weak derivative* of  $x(\cdot)$  at  $t_0 \in T$ .

It is easy to see that if the elements  $x_s'(t_0)$  and  $x_w'(t_0)$  exist, then they are uniquely determined. If a function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is strongly differentiable (weakly differentiable) at each point  $t \in T$ , then we say that  $x(\cdot)$  is strongly differentiable (weakly differentiable) on T. In this case, the vector valued function  $t \mapsto x_s'(t)$  is called the strong derivative (weak derivative) of  $x(\cdot)$ . Obviously, a strongly differentiable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is also weakly differentiable, but the converse is not true ([81, Example 7.3.6]). Also, it is obvious that if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a function weakly differentiable on T, then the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on T. Moreover, in this case we have that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, x'_w(t) \rangle, \ t \in T, \tag{1.3.1}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . For the converse the following result is known.

**Proposition 1.3.1.** ([81, Theorem 7.3.3]) If E is a weakly sequentially complete space and  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a function such that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on T

**Proposition 1.3.2.** ([67, Theorem 1.2]) If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a.e. weakly differentiable on T, then its weak derivative  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is strongly measurable on T.

**Definition 1.3.3.** A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *pseudo-differentiable* on T to a function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  if for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus N(x^*)$  and

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle, \ t \in T \setminus N(x^*). \tag{1.3.2}$$

The function  $y(\cdot)$  is called a *pseudo-derivative* of  $x(\cdot)$  and it will be denoted by  $x'_p(\cdot)$  or by  $\frac{d_p}{dt}x(\cdot)$ .

We end this section with some remarks.

- Clearly, if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a function a.e. weakly differentiable on T, then  $x(\cdot)$  is pseudo-differentiable on T and  $x_p'(\cdot) = x_w'(\cdot)$  a.e. on T
- A pseudo-derivative  $x'_p(\cdot)$  of a pseudo-differentiable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  need not be strongly measurable [83]. However, in [84] it was shown that  $x'_p(\cdot)$  is weakly measurable on T.
- In general, a pseudo-derivative of a pseudo-differentiable function x(·): T → E is not unique. Moreover, two pseudo-derivatives of x(·) need not be a.e. equal [83]. However, if E has a countable determining set, that is, a countable set W\* ⊂ E\* such that ||x|| = sup |⟨x\*, x⟩| for every x ∈ E, then any two pseudo-derivative of x(·) are a.e. equal [83].
- Even if  $E^*$  is separable and  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a Lipschitz function, we cannot guarantee that  $x'_p(\cdot)$  exists on T; in fact,  $x'_p(\cdot)$  need not exist on any subset of T of positive Lebesgue measure [84].

#### 1.4 Integration in Banach Spaces

The concept of Bochner integral and Pettis integral are well known [30, 61, 81]. Nevertheless, we recall the definition of Bochner integral, Pettis integral and Riemann integral.

**Definition 1.4.1.** Let  $(T; \Sigma; \mu)$  be a measure space and  $f: T \to E$  be a function. The function f is called Bochner-integrable if there exists a sequence of simple functions  $f_n: T \to E$  such that  $\int_T \|f - f_n\| d\mu \to 0$ , as  $n \to \infty$ . The Bochner integral of f is then defined as  $\int_T f d\mu = \lim_{n\to\infty} \int_T f_n d\mu$ , where the integral for simple functions is defined in the obvious way: if  $f_n = \sum x_i \chi_{A_i}$ , then  $\int_T f_n d\mu = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_i x_i \mu(A_i)$ . It is easy to see that such a limit indeed exists and does not depend on the choice of a sequence  $f_n$  approximating the given function f.

**Definition 1.4.2.** A weakly measurable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *Pettis integrable* on T if

- (a)  $x(\cdot)$  is scalarly integrable; that is, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is Lebesgue integrable on T;
- (b) for every set  $A \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  there exists an element  $x_A \in E$  such that

$$\langle x^*, x_A \rangle = \int_A \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds$$
 (1.4.1)

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . The element  $x_A \in E$  is called the *Pettis integral* on A and it will be denoted by  $\int_A x(s)ds$ .

It is easy to show that a Bochner integrable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is Pettis integrable and both integrals of  $x(\cdot)$  are equal on each Lebesgue measurable subset A of T ([81, Proposition 2.3.1]).

**Remark 1.4.1.** It is known that if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is Bochner integrable on T, then the function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , given by

$$y(t) = (B) \int_0^t x(s)ds, t \in T,$$

is AC and a.e. differentiable on T, and  $y_s'(t) = x(t)$  for a.e.  $t \in T$ . Also, if a function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is AC and a.e. strongly differentiable on T, then  $x_s'(\cdot)$  is Bochner integrable on T and

$$x(t) = x(0) + (B) \int_0^t x_s'(s)ds, t \in T.$$

**Remark 1.4.2.** In the case of the Pettis integral, in [60, 67] it was shown that if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is AC and a.e. weakly differentiable on T, then  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable on T and

$$x(t) = x(0) + \int_0^t x'_w(s)ds, t \in T.$$

In 1994 Kadets [45] prove that there exists a strongly measurable and Pettis integrable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  such that the indefinite Pettis integral

$$y(t) = \int_0^t x(s)ds, t \in T,$$
 (1.4.2)

is not weakly differentiable on a set of positive Lebesgue measure (see also [60, 68]). In 1995 Dilworth and Girardi [31] showed that there always exists a strongly measurable and Pettis integrable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  such that the indefinite Pettis integral (1.4.2) is nowhere weakly differentiable. The best result for a descriptive definition of the Pettis integral is that given by Pettis in [67].

**Proposition 1.4.1.** [67] Let  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  be a weakly measurable function.

- (a) If  $x(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable on T, then the indefinite Pettis integral (1.4.2) is AC on T and  $x(\cdot)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y(\cdot)$ .
- (b) If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is an AC function on T and it has a pseudo-derivative  $x(\cdot)$  on T, then  $x(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable on T and

$$y(t) = y(0) + \int_0^t x(s)ds, t \in T.$$

It is known that the Pettis integrals of two strongly measurable functions  $x(\cdot)$ :  $T \to E$  and  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  coincide over every Lebesgue measurable set in T if and only if  $x(\cdot) = y(\cdot)$  a.e. on T [67, Theorem 5.2]. Since a pseudo-derivative of a pseudo-differentiable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is not unique and two pseudo-derivatives of  $x(\cdot)$  need not be a.e. equal, then the concept of weakly equivalence plays an important role in the following.

**Definition 1.4.3.** Two weakly measurable functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  and  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  are said to be *weakly equivalent* on T if for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have that  $\langle x^*, x(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle$  for a.e.  $t \in T$ .

**Remark 1.4.3.** From an integral point of view, the weak measurable functions with the same indefinite Pettis integral are weakly equivalent. Obviously, every two pseudo-derivatives of a pseudo-differentiable function are weakly equivalent, if there exist. However, the functions that are weakly equivalent to strongly measurable functions need not themselves be strongly measurable ([37, Example 2.3]). In fact,

to say that a weakly measurable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is weakly equivalent to a strongly measurable function is the same as saying that the indefinite integral of  $x(\cdot)$  is given by a Bochner integrable function (see [85]). An example of a weakly measurable function that is not strongly measurable but is weakly equivalent to a strongly measurable function can be found in [61, Example 3.1].

If two weakly measurable functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  and  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  are weakly equivalent on T, then we will write  $x(\cdot) = y(\cdot)$   $t \in T$ .

**Proposition 1.4.2.** [67] A weakly measurable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is Pettis integrable on T and  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^{\infty}(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , if and only if the function  $t \mapsto \varphi(t)x(t)$  is Pettis integrable on T for every  $\varphi(\cdot) \in L^1(T)$ .

We will now define the fractional integral of a vector-valued function using the Riemann-Pettis integral. Also, we will establish some properties of them. First, we recall the notion of Riemann integral for vector-valued functions.

The notion of Riemann integral for vector-valued functions was introduced by Graves [42].

**Definition 1.4.4.** A vector-valued function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *Riemann integrable* (or *R-integrable*, for short) on T if for any partition  $\{t_0, ..., t_n\}$  of T and any choice of points  $\xi_i \in [t_{i-1}, t_i], i = 1, ..., n$ , the sum given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) x(\xi_i) \tag{1.4.3}$$

converge strongly to some  $x_T \in E$  provided  $\max_{1 \le i \le n} |t_i - t_{i-1}| \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

The element  $x_T$  is called the Riemann-Graves integral of  $x(\cdot)$  and it will be denoted by  $(R) \int_0^b x(t)dt$ .

Let us recall that a function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be scalarly Riemann integrable if for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is Riemann integrable on T. In the following, let us recall some properties of Riemann integral. First, let us denote by  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$  the space of all weakly measurable and Pettis integrable functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  with the property that  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^{\infty}(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$ .

An R-integrable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is also scalarly Riemann integrable and

$$\int_{a}^{b} \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle dt = \left\langle x^*, (R) \int_{a}^{b} x(t) dt \right\rangle$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$  (see [41, Theorem 7]). Using the Uniform Boundedness Principle it is easy to see that every scalarly Riemann integrable function is bounded. Therefore, if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is R-integrable on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is bounded and a.e. continuous on T. It follows that every R-integrable function  $x(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable (in fact,  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ ) and every strongly measurable and R-integrable function  $x(\cdot)$  is Bochner integrable (see [41, Theorem 15]).

Graves ([42, Theorem 1]) shows that any function which is discontinuous on a set of Lebesgue measure zero is R-integrable. Also, Graves [42] gives an example of a discontinuous everywhere function which is R-integrable. We also remark that there exist strongly measurable and R-integrable functions which are not a.e. continuous [70], and R-integrable functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  such that  $||x(\cdot)||$  is not measurable and, hence neither Riemann integrable nor Lebesgue integrable [67]. Therefore, a R-integrable function is not necessarily Bochner integrable. More details on the properties of R-integral can be found in the works [9], [41], [42] and [71].

# 1.5 Weak Measure of Non-Compactness and Weak variant of Arcoli-Arzela Theorem

Let us denote by  $P_{wk}(E)$  the set of all weakly compact subset of E. The weak measure of non-compactness [27] is the set function  $\beta: P_{wk}(E) \to [0, \infty)$  defined by

$$\beta(A) = \inf\{r > 0; \text{ there exist } K \in P_{wk}(E) \text{ such } A \subset K + rB_1\},$$

where  $B_1$  is the closed unit ball in E. The properties of weak non-compactness measure are analogous to the properties of measure of non-compactness:

- (i)  $A \subseteq B$  implies that  $\beta(A) \leq \beta(B)$ ;
- (ii)  $\beta(A) = \beta(cl_w A)$ , where  $cl_w A$  denotes the weak closure of A;
- (iii)  $\beta(A) = 0$  if and only if  $cl_w A$  is weakly compact;
- (iv)  $\beta(A \cup B) = \max{\{\beta(A), \beta(B)\}};$
- (v)  $\beta(A) = \beta(conv(A));$
- (vi)  $\beta(A+B) \leq \beta(A) + \beta(B)$ ;
- (vii)  $\beta(x+A) = \beta(A)$ , for all  $x \in E$ ;

- (viii)  $\beta(\lambda A) = |\lambda|\beta(A)$ , for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (ix)  $\beta(\bigcup_{0 \le r \le r_0} rA) = r_0 \beta(A);$
- (x)  $\beta(A) \leq 2diam(A)$ .

**Lemma 1.5.1.** ([8, 23]) Let  $H \subset C(T, E)$  be bounded and equicontinuous. Then (i) the function  $t \to \beta(H(t))$  is continuous on T,

 $(ii) \beta_c(H) = \sup_{t \in T} \beta(H(t)) = \beta(H(t)),$ 

where  $\beta_c(\cdot)$  denote the weak non-compactness measure on C(T, E) and  $H(t) = \{u(t), u \in H\}, t \in T$ .

**Definition 1.5.1.** • Let  $\{x_n(t)\}$  be a sequence of functions from T into E, then  $\{x_n(t)\}$  converges weakly uniformly to x(t), where  $x:T\to E$ , if for  $\varepsilon>0$ ,  $x^*\in E^*$  there exists  $N=N(x^*,\varepsilon)$  such that n>N implies

$$\left| \langle x^*, x_n(t) - x(t) \rangle \right| < \varepsilon \text{ for all } t \in T.$$

• The family  $\{x_n(t)\}$  is said to be weakly equicontinuous if given  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $x^* \in E^*$ , there exists a  $\delta = \delta(x^*, \varepsilon)$  such that

$$\left| \langle x^*, x_n(t) - x_n(s) \rangle \right| < \varepsilon$$

whenever  $|t - s| < \delta$  and for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

• if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in E, then  $\{x_n\}$  is weakly Cauchy if given  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $x^* \in E^*$ , there exists  $N = N(x^*, \varepsilon)$  such that  $n, m \ge N$  implies that

$$\left| \langle x^*, (x_n - x_m) \rangle \right| < \varepsilon;$$

• The Banach space E is weakly sequentially complete if every weakly Cauchy sequence is weakly convergent in E.

**Theorem 1.5.2.** [54] Let E be a metrizable locally convex topological vector space and let K be a closed convex subset of E, and let Q be a weakly sequentially continuous map of K into itself. If for some  $y \in K$  the implication

$$\overline{V} = \overline{conv}(Q(V) \cup \{y\}) \Rightarrow V$$
 is relatively weakly compact,

holds for every subset V of K, then Q has a fixed point.

# Chapter 2

# Pseudo Solution for Fractional Differential Equations

In chapter 1 we recalled some basic definitions and results about differentiation and integration in Banach spaces. In the present chapter we establish an existence result for the fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces.

$$\begin{cases} D_p^{\alpha} y(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$

where  $D_p^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$  is a fractional pseudo-derivative of a weakly absolutely continuous and pseudo-differentiable function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , the function  $f(t, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous for every  $t \in T$  and  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot))$  is Pettis integrable for every weakly absolutely continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , T is a bounded interval of real numbers containing zero and E is a nonreflexive Banach space.

# 2.1 Fractional Pettis integral and Abel integral equation

Let us denote by  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$  the space of all weakly measurable and Pettis integrable functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  with the property that  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^{\infty}(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Since for each  $t \in T$  the real valued function  $s \mapsto (t - s)^{\alpha - 1}$  is Lebesgue integrable on [0, t] for every  $\alpha > 0$  then, by Proposition 1.4.2, the fractional Pettis integral

$$I^{\alpha}x(t) := \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$

exists for every function  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  as a function from T into E. Moreover, we have that

$$\langle x^*, I^{\alpha} x(t) \rangle = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds, \ t \in T,$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , and the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, I^{\alpha}x(t) \rangle$  is continuous (in fact, bounded and uniformly continuous on T if  $T = \mathbb{R}$ ) on T for every  $x^* \in E^*$  ([9, Proposition 1.3.2]).

**Example 2.1.** Let T be the interval [0,1] and define  $f: T \to L^{\infty}(T)$  by  $f(t) = \chi_{[0,t]}$ . Then this function is weakly measurable and Pettis integrable, but not strongly measurable (see [37], [85]). To compute the fractional Pettis integral of f, we consider  $\psi \in L^1(T)$ , and let  $x^*$  be the element of  $L^{\infty}(T)^*$  corresponding to  $\psi$ . Since

$$\int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^{*}, f(s) \rangle ds = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^{*}, \chi_{[0,s]} \rangle ds =$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{1} \psi(\tau) \chi_{[0,s]}(\tau) d\tau ds = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{s} \psi(\tau) d\tau ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\tau}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \psi(\tau) ds d\tau = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \psi(\tau) d\tau$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \chi_{[0,t]}(\tau) \psi(\tau) d\tau = \left\langle x^{*}, \frac{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \chi_{[0,t]} \right\rangle,$$

we infer that

$$\left(\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s) ds\right)(\tau) = \frac{(t-\tau)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \chi_{[0,t]} \in L^{\infty}(T), \ t \in [0,1].$$

**Lemma 2.1.1.** If  $x(\cdot), y(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  are weakly equivalent on T, then  $I^{\alpha}x(t) = I^{\alpha}y(t)$  on T.

**Proof.** If  $x(\cdot), y(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  are weakly equivalent on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that for every  $t \in T$  we have that  $\langle x^*, x(s) \rangle = \langle x^*, y(s) \rangle$  for  $s \in [0, t] \setminus N(x^*)$ . It follows that  $\frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle = \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(s) \rangle$  for  $s \in [0, t] \setminus N(x^*)$  and  $t \in T$ , and so  $\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(s) \rangle ds$  for  $t \in T$ . Therefore, we have that  $\langle x^*, I^{\alpha}x(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, I^{\alpha}y(t) \rangle$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$  and every  $t \in T$ , and thus  $I^{\alpha}x(t) = I^{\alpha}y(t)$  on T.

**Lemma 2.1.2.** The fractional Pettis integral is a linear operator from  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$  into  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$ . Moreover, if  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then for  $\alpha, \beta \in (0, 1)$  we have

- (a)  $I^{\alpha}I^{\beta}x(t) = I^{\alpha+\beta}x(t), t \in T$ ,
- (b)  $\lim_{\alpha \to 1} I^{\alpha}x(t) = I^{1}x(t)$  weakly uniformly on T if only these integrals exist on T.

**Proof.** Let  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  and  $\alpha > 0$ . Since for each  $t \in T$  the real valued function  $s \mapsto (t - s)^{\alpha - 1}$  is Lebesgue integrable on [0, t] and for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is essentially bounded on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds$  is continuous on T. Moreover, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have

$$\int_{T} \langle x^*, I^{\alpha} x(t) \rangle dt = \int_{0}^{b} \left\langle x^*, \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds \right\rangle dt =$$

$$\int_{0}^{b} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, x(s) ds \right\rangle dt = \int_{0}^{b} \int_{s}^{b} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, x(s) dt \right\rangle ds =$$

$$\int_{0}^{b} \frac{(b-s)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \left\langle x^*, x(s) \right\rangle ds = \left\langle x^*, \int_{0}^{b} \frac{(b-s)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} x(s) ds \right\rangle = \left\langle x^*, x_T \right\rangle,$$

where  $x_T = \int_0^b \frac{(b-s)^\alpha}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} x(s) ds$ . It follows that the function  $t \mapsto I^\alpha x(t)$  is weakly measurable,  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^\infty(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$  and there exists a  $x_T \in E$  such that  $\langle x^*, x_T \rangle = \int_T \langle x^*, I^\alpha x(t) \rangle dt$ ; that is,  $I^\alpha x(\cdot) \in P^\infty(T, E)$ . Obviously,  $I^\alpha$  is a linear operator. Next, since for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is essentially bounded on T, then from the semigroup property of fractional integration (see [38, Theorem 2.2]) it follows that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have

$$I^{\alpha}I^{\beta}\langle x^*, x(t)\rangle = I^{\alpha+\beta}\langle x^*, x(t)\rangle$$

for  $t \in T$ . Therefore, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have

$$\langle x^*, I^{\alpha}I^{\beta}x(t)\rangle = \langle x^*, I^{\alpha+\beta}x(t)\rangle$$

for  $t \in T$  and so  $I^{\alpha}I^{\beta}x(t) = I^{\alpha+\beta}x(t)$  for  $t \in T$ . For (b) see [74].

In the following, consider  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and for a given function  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T,E)$  we also denote by  $x_{1-\alpha}(t)$  the fractional Pettis integral

$$I^{1-\alpha}x(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x(s) ds, \ t \in T.$$

Consider the following Abel integral equation

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds = y(t), \ t \in T, \tag{2.1.1}$$

where  $y(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is a given function. Our aim is to find the conditions under which the integral equation (2.1.1) has a solution  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ . For this, suppose that  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is a solution of (2.1.1). Then from (2.1.1) it follows that

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle \, ds = \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle, \, t \in T, \tag{2.1.2}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Since  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^1(T)$  and  $\langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle \in L^1(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , then using the same reasoning as in [80, Section 1.2] it follows that

$$\int_0^t \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle \, ds = \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle \,, \, t \in T,$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Therefore, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is an AC function on T, and so  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot): T \to E$  is wAC on T. Moreover, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is a.e. differentiable on T and  $\frac{d}{dt}\langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot) \rangle \in L^1(T)$ . Then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus N(x^*)$  and

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle \text{ for } t \in T \setminus N(x^*), \tag{2.1.3}$$

and thus  $x(\cdot)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$ . Consequently, if  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is a solution of (2.1.1), then  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$ , and  $y_{1-\alpha}(0) = 0$ .

Moreover, if  $\widetilde{x}(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is another solution of (2.1.1), then it is not difficult to see that  $x(\cdot)$  and  $\widetilde{x}(\cdot)$  are weakly equivalent.

Conversely, suppose that the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T, has a pseudo-derivative  $z(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  and  $y_{1-\alpha}(0) = 0$ . Since  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is a.e. differentiable on T, and so for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus N(x^*)$  and  $\langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot) \rangle \in L^1(T)$ . For every  $x^* \in E^*$ , we consider a function  $g(x^*)(\cdot) \in L^1(T)$  such that  $g(x^*)(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$ ,  $t \in T \setminus N(x^*)$ . Further, since  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  has the pseudo-derivative  $z(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $M(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus M(x^*)$  and

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, z(t) \rangle, t \in T \setminus M(x^*).$$

It follows that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we can choose the null set  $A(x^*) := N(x^*) \cup M(x^*)$  such that  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus A(x^*)$  and

$$g(x^*)(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, z(t) \rangle, \ t \in T \setminus A(x^*). \tag{2.1.4}$$

Moreover, we observe that  $g(x^*)(\cdot) \in L^{\infty}(T)$ . We will now show that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $g(x^*)(\cdot)$  is a solution of (2.1.2). For this purpose we replace  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle$  by  $g(x^*)(\cdot)$  in the left-hand side of (2.1.2) and denote the result by  $f(x^*)(\cdot)$ , that is,

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(x^*)(s) ds = f(x^*)(t), \ t \in T.$$
 (2.1.5)

If we show that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the functions  $f(x^*)(\cdot)$  and  $\langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle$  are equal on T, then our assertion is proved. Note using (2.1.5), the equality  $f(x^*)(\cdot) = \langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle$  on T is shown in the proof of Theorem 2.1 from [80]. Consequently, since for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $g(x^*)(\cdot)$  is a solution of (2.1.2), it follows that the pseudoderivative  $z(\cdot)$  of  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is weakly equivalent with a solution of (2.1.1). Finally, we remark that if  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  is replaced by  $\beta := 1 - \alpha \in (0,1)$ , then the previous reasoning remain valid.

Summarizing the above we obtain.

**Theorem 2.1.3.** If  $y(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then the Abel integral equation (2.1.1) has a solution in  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$  if and only if the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  has the following properties:

- (a)  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,
- (b)  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  has a pseudo-derivative belonging to  $P^{\infty}(T,E)$ ;
- (c)  $y_{1-\alpha}(0) = 0$ .

If these conditions are satisfied, then any solution  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  of (2.1.1) is weakly equivalent to a pseudo-derivative of  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$ ; that is,  $x(t) \approx \frac{d_p}{dt} \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y(s) ds$  on T. If E is a weakly sequentially complete space, then condition (a) is replaced by

(a')  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

Corollary 2.1.4. If  $y(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then the Abel integral equation

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x(s) ds = y(t), \ t \in T, \tag{2.1.6}$$

has a solution in  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$  if and only if the function  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  has the following properties:

- (a)  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,
- (b)  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  has a pseudo-derivative belonging to  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$ ;
- (c)  $y_{\alpha}(0) = 0$ .

If these conditions are satisfied, then any solution  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  of (2.1.6) is weakly equivalent to a pseudo-derivative of  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$ ; that is,  $x(t) \approx \frac{d_p}{dt} \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} y(s) ds$  on T. If E is a weakly sequentially complete space, then condition (a) is replaced by

(a')  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

Corollary 2.1.5. If  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a function such that  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  for every wAC function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , then the function  $f_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  given by

$$f_{\alpha}(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds, \ t \in T,$$
(2.1.7)

has the following properties:

- (a)  $f_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,
- (b)  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot))$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $f_{\alpha}(\cdot)$ ;
- (c)  $f_{\alpha}(0) = 0$ .

If E is a weakly sequentially complete space, then wAC is replaced by AC.

#### 2.2 Fractional Pseudo-Derivative

In the following, consider  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ . If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a pseudo-differentiable function with a pseudo-derivative  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T,E)$  on T, then the following fractional Pettis integral

$$I^{1-\alpha}x(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}x(s)ds$$

exists on T. The fractional Pettis integral  $I^{1-\alpha}x(\cdot)$  is called a fractional pseudoderivative of  $y(\cdot)$  on T and it will be denoted by  $D_p^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$ ; that is,

$$D_p^{\alpha} y(t) = I^{1-\alpha} x(t), \ t \in T.$$
 (2.2.1)

If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is an a.e. weakly differentiable function with the weak derivative  $y'_w(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  on T, then

$$D_w^{\alpha} y(t) := I^{1-\alpha} y_w'(t), \ t \in T, \tag{2.2.2}$$

is called the fractional weak derivative of  $y(\cdot)$  on T.

**Example 2.2.** Let  $\mathbf{c}_0$  be the space of all real sequences converging to zero and T = [0, 1]. Then  $\mathbf{c}_0$  is a Banach space with respect to the norm  $||x||_{\mathbf{c}_0} := \max_{n \geq 1} |x_n|$ , where  $x = \{x_n\}_{n \geq 1}$ . Also, we recall that  $\mathbf{c}_0$  is not weakly sequentially complete. Let  $x(\cdot): T \to \mathbf{c}_0$  be defined by

$$x(t)(n) = x_n(t) = \begin{cases} n, & \text{if } 0 \le t \le \frac{1}{2n} \\ -n, & \text{if } \frac{1}{2n} < t \le \frac{1}{n} \\ 0, & \text{if } \frac{1}{n} < t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Also, consider the function  $y(\cdot): T \to \mathbf{c}_0$  be defined by

$$y(t)(n) = y_n(t) = \begin{cases} nt, & \text{if } 0 \le t \le \frac{1}{2n} \\ 1 - nt, & \text{if } \frac{1}{2n} < t \le \frac{1}{n} \\ 0, & \text{if } \frac{1}{n} < t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Then it is easy to see that  $y_n(t) = \int_0^t x_n(s)ds$ ,  $0 \le t \le 1$ . Let  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}_0^*$ . Then there exists a sequence of real numbers  $\{\lambda_n(x^*)\}_{n\ge 1}$  such that the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n(x^*)$  is absolutely convergent and

$$\langle x^*, y(t) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n(x^*) y_n(t) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n(x^*) \int_0^t x_n(s) ds.$$

Since

$$|\langle x^*, x(t)\rangle| = \left|\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n(x^*)x_n(t)\right| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_n(x^*)| < \infty$$

by the Fubini theorem we have

$$\langle x^*, y(t) \rangle = \int_0^t \left[ \sum_{n=1}^\infty \lambda_n(x^*) x_n(s) \right] ds,$$

and so the function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle$  is absolutely continuous for every  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}_0^*$  (see also [48]). Thus, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus N(x^*)$  and  $\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$ ,  $t \in T \setminus N(x^*)$ . It follows that the function  $x(\cdot)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y(\cdot)$  such

that  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T)$ . To compute the fraction pseudo-derivative of  $x(\cdot)$ , let  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}_0^*$  be given and let  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n(x^*)$  be its corresponding absolutely convergent series. We have

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^\infty \lambda_n(x^*) x_n(s) \right] ds$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^\infty n \lambda_n(x^*) \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \lambda_n(x^*) \frac{nt^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)}$$

if  $0 \le t \le \frac{1}{2n}$ ,

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds = \sum_{n=1}^\infty n \lambda_n(x^*) \left[ \int_0^{1/2n} \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds - \int_{1/2n}^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds \right]$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^\infty \lambda_n(x^*) \frac{n}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \left[ t^{1-\alpha} - 2\left(t - \frac{1}{2n}\right)^{1-\alpha} \right]$$

if  $\frac{1}{2n} < t \le \frac{1}{n}$ , and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^{*}, x(s) \rangle ds = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \lambda_{n}(x^{*}) \left[ \int_{0}^{1/2n} \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds - \int_{1/2n}^{1/n} \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds \right]$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{n}(x^{*}) \frac{n}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \left[ t^{1-\alpha} - 2\left(t - \frac{1}{2n}\right)^{1-\alpha} + \left(t - \frac{1}{n}\right)^{1-\alpha} \right]$$

if  $\frac{1}{n} < t \le 1$ . It follows that

$$D_p^{\alpha} x(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x(s) ds = z(t), \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$

where  $z(\cdot) \in \mathbf{c}_0$  is defined by

$$z(t)(n) = \begin{cases} \frac{nt^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)}, & \text{if } 0 \le t \le \frac{1}{2n} \\ \frac{n}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \left[ t^{1-\alpha} - 2\left(t - \frac{1}{2n}\right)^{1-\alpha} \right], & \text{if } \frac{1}{2n} < t \le \frac{1}{n} \\ \frac{n}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \left[ t^{1-\alpha} - 2\left(t - \frac{1}{2n}\right)^{1-\alpha} + \left(t - \frac{1}{n}\right)^{1-\alpha} \right], & \text{if } \frac{1}{n} < t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

**Remark 2.2.1.** If  $x(\cdot), \widetilde{x}(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  are two pseudo-derivatives of  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , then  $x(\cdot) \approx \widetilde{x}(\cdot)$  on T. Thus, Lemma 2.1.1 implies that  $I^{1-\alpha}x(t) = I^{1-\alpha}\widetilde{x}(t)$  on T, and so  $D_p^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$  does not depend on the pseudo-derivatives of  $y(\cdot)$ . If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a.e. weakly differentiable on T, then its weak derivative  $y'_w(\cdot)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y(\cdot)$ , and thus  $D_p^{\alpha}y(t) = D_w^{\alpha}y(t)$  for  $t \in T$ .

**Lemma 2.2.1.** If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a pseudo-differentiable function with a pseudo-derivative  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then the function

$$y_{1-\alpha}(t) := \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$

is wAC and it has a pseudo-derivative  $\frac{d_p}{dt}y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T,E)$  such that

$$\frac{d_p}{dt}y_{1-\alpha}(t) \approx \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}y(0) + I^{1-\alpha}x(t) \text{ on } T.$$
 (2.2.3)

**Proof.** Since  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  is a pseudo-derivative of  $y(\cdot)$ , then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  there exists a null set  $N(x^*) \in \mathcal{L}(T)$  such that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on  $T \setminus N(x^*)$  and  $\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  for  $t \in T \setminus N(x^*)$ . From the last equality we infer that

$$\int_0^s \langle x^*, x(\tau) \rangle d\tau = \langle x^*, y(s) \rangle - \langle x^*, y(0) \rangle, \ s \in T,$$
 (2.2.4)

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . From (2.2.4) we obtain that

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_0^s \left\langle x^*, x(\tau) \right\rangle d\tau ds =$$

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, y(s) \right\rangle ds - \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, y(0) \right\rangle ds, \ t \in T,$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . It follows that

$$\int_0^t \int_0^s \frac{(s-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(\tau) \rangle d\tau ds$$

$$= \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(s) \rangle ds - \frac{t^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(0) \rangle,$$

and so

$$\langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \frac{t^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(0) \rangle + \int_0^t z(s) ds, \ t \in T, \tag{2.2.5}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , where  $z(s) = \int_0^s \frac{(s-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(\tau) \rangle d\tau$ ,  $s \in [0,t]$ . Since  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T,E)$ , then from (2.2.5) we infer that the function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is AC on T for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Thus, from (2.2.5) it follows that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, y(0) \rangle + \int_0^t \frac{(t-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(\tau) \rangle d\tau, \ t \in T,$$

for a.e.  $t \in T$ . Therefore, the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC and has a pseudo-derivative weakly equivalent to  $\frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}y(0) + I^{1-\alpha}x(t)$  on T.

**Remark 2.2.2.** Relation (2.2.3) can be written as

$$D_p^{\alpha} x(t) \approx \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y(0) - \frac{d_p}{dt} y_{1-\alpha}(t) \text{ on } T.$$
 (2.2.6)

In this case  $\frac{d_p}{dt}y_{1-\alpha}(t)$  will be denoted by  $^{RL}D_p^{\alpha}x(t)$  and it is called a Riemann-Liouville pseudo-derivative of  $x(\cdot)$ . The formula (2.2.6) suggests us that we can extend the definition of the fractional pseudo-derivative for functions  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ . Therefore, if  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ , then a fractional pseudo-derivative of  $x(\cdot)$  is defined by (2.2.6). It follows that a fractional pseudo-derivative  $D_p^{\alpha}x(t)$  are also defined for functions  $x(\cdot)$  for which a Riemann-Liouville fractional pseudo-derivative  $^{RL}D_p^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists.

**Corollary 2.2.2.** Let E be a weakly sequentially complete space. If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a.e. weakly differentiable, then the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

**Remark 2.2.3.** Let  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  be a pseudo-differentiable function with a pseudo-derivative  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$ . Then as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.1 we can show that the function

$$y_{\alpha}(t) := \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} y(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$

is wAC and has a pseudo-derivative  $\frac{d_p}{dt}y_{\alpha}(t)$  such that

$$\frac{d_p}{dt}y_{\alpha}(t) \approx \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)}y(0) + I^{\alpha}x(t) \text{ on } T.$$

Also, if E is a weakly sequentially complete space and  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a.e. weakly differentiable, then the function  $y_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

**Lemma 2.2.3.** If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a pseudo-differentiable function with a pseudo-derivative  $x(\cdot) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in (0, 1)$ , then

- (a)  $I^{\alpha}D_{n}^{\alpha}y(t) = y(t) y(0)$  on T;
- (b)  $D_p^{\alpha} I^{\alpha} y(t) = y(t)$  on T.

**Proof.** Indeed, using (2.2.1), Lemma 2.1.2 and Proposition 1.4.1, we have

$$I^{\alpha}D_{p}^{\alpha}y(t) = I^{\alpha}I^{1-\alpha}x(t) = I^{1}x(t) = \int_{0}^{t}x(s)ds$$
  
=  $y(t) - y(0), t \in T.$ 

Also, using Lemma 2.1.1, Remark 2.2.3 and Proposition 1.4.1 we have

$$D_{p}^{\alpha} I^{\alpha} y(t) = I^{1-\alpha} \frac{d_{p}}{dt} I^{\alpha} y(t) = I^{1-\alpha} \left[ \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} y(0) + I^{\alpha} x(t) \right]$$
$$= y(0) + \int_{0}^{t} x(s) ds = y(0) + y(t) - y(0) = y(t)$$

on T.

#### 2.3 Differential Equations With Fractional Pseudo-Derivatives

In this section we establish an existence result for the following fractional differential equation

$$\begin{cases} D_p^{\alpha} y(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$
 (2.3.1)

where  $D_p^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$  is a fractional pseudo-derivative of the function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  and  $f(\cdot,\cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a given function. Along with the Cauchy problem (2.3.1) consider the following integral equation

$$y(t) = y_0 + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds, \quad t \in T,$$
 (2.3.2)

where the integral is in the sense of Pettis.

A continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be a *solution* of (2.3.1) if  $y(\cdot)$  is pseudo-differentiable, has a pseudo-derivative belonging to  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$ ,  $D_p^{\alpha}y(t) \approx f(t, y(t))$  for  $t \in T$  and  $y(0) = y_0$ .

To prove a result of the existence of solutions for (2.3.1) we need some preliminary results.

**Lemma 2.3.1.** Let  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  be a function such that  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  for every continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ . Then a continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a solution of (2.3.1) if and only if it satisfies the integral equation (2.3.2).

**Proof.** Indeed, if a continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a solution of (2.3.1), then from Lemma 2.2.3(a) it follows that  $y(t) - y(0) = I^{\alpha} f(t, y(t))$  on T; that is,  $y(\cdot)$  satisfies the integral equation (2.3.2). Conversely, suppose that a continuous

function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  satisfies the integral equation (2.3.2). Then the function  $z(\cdot):=f(\cdot,y(\cdot))\in P^{\infty}(T,E)$  satisfies the Abel equation

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} z(s) ds = v(s), \quad t \in T,$$

where  $v(t) := y(t) - y_0$ ,  $t \in T$ . From Theorem 2.1.3 and Remark 2.2.2 it follows that  $v_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  has a pseudo-derivative on T and

$$z(t) \approx \frac{d_p}{dt} v_{1-\alpha}(t) = \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y_0 - \frac{d_p}{dt} y_{1-\alpha}(t) \text{ for } t \in T.$$

Then by (2.2.6) we have that  $z(t) \approx D_p^{\alpha} y(t)$  for  $t \in T$ ; that is,  $D_p^{\alpha} y(t) \approx f(t, y(t))$  on T.

# 2.4 An Existence Results of Fractional Differential Equation

In this section we shell discuss the existence of solutions of fraction differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces. We recall that a function  $f(\cdot): E \to E$  is said to be sequentially continuous from  $E_w$  into  $E_w$  (or weakly-weakly sequentially continuous) if for every weakly convergent sequence  $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset E$ , the sequence  $\{f(x_n)\}_{n\geq 1}$  is weakly convergent in E.

By a Gripenberg function we mean a function  $g: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  such that  $g(\cdot)$  is continuous, nondecreasing with g(0) = 0 and  $u \equiv 0$  is the only continuous solution of

$$u(t) \le \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} g(u(s)) ds, \ u(0) = 0.$$
 (2.4.1)

The problem of uniqueness of the null solution of (2.4.1) was studied by Gripenberg in [39].

**Theorem 2.4.1.** Assume  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  be a function such that:

- (h1)  $f(t,\cdot)$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous for every  $t \in T$ ;
- (h2)  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  for every continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ ;
- $(h3) ||f(t,y)|| \le M \text{ for all } (t,y) \in T \times E;$
- (h4) for every bounded set  $A \subseteq E$  we have

$$\beta(f(T \times A)) \le g(\beta(A)),$$

where  $g(\cdot)$  is a Gripenberg function. Then (2.3.1) admits a solution  $y(\cdot)$  on an interval  $T_0 = T$  with  $a = \min \left\{ b, \left( \frac{r\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{M} \right)^{1/\alpha} \right\}$ .

**Proof.** In our proof we shall use some ideas from the papers of Cichoń [22] and Salem & El-Sayed [74] (see also Cichoń & all. [22], Salem & Cichoń [79]). We define the nonlinear operator  $Q(\cdot): C(T_0, E) \to C(T_0, E)$  by

$$(Qy)(t) = y_0 + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds, \quad t \in T_0.$$

If  $y(\cdot) \in C(T_0, E)$ , then by (h2) we have that  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  and so the operator Q makes sense. To show that Q is well defined, let  $t_1, t_2 \in T_0$  with  $t_2 > t_1$ . Without loss of generality, assume that  $(Qy)(t_2) - (Qy)(t_1) \neq 0$ . Then by the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and  $||(Qy)(t_2) - (Qy)(t_1)|| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t_2) - (Qy)(t_1)\rangle|$ . Then

$$\|(Qy)(t_{2}) - (Qy)(t_{1})\| = |\langle y^{*}, (Qy)(t_{2}) - (Qy)(t_{1})\rangle|$$

$$= \left| \int_{0}^{t_{2}} \frac{(t_{2} - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle y^{*}, f(s, y(s)) \rangle ds - \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \frac{(t_{1} - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle y^{*}, f(s, y(s)) \rangle ds \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \left( \frac{(t_{1} - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} - \frac{(t_{2} - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \right) |\langle y^{*}, f(s, y(s)) \rangle| ds +$$

$$\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \frac{(t_{2} - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} |\langle y^{*}, f(s, y(s)) \rangle| ds$$

$$\leq \frac{M}{\Gamma(1 + \alpha)} \left[ t_{1}^{\alpha} - t_{2}^{\alpha} + 2(t_{2} - t_{1})^{\alpha} \right] \leq \frac{2M}{\Gamma(1 + \alpha)} (t_{2} - t_{1})^{\alpha},$$

so Q maps  $C(T_0, E)$  into itself. Let r > 0 and let  $\widetilde{B}$  be the convex, closed and equicontinous set defined by

$$\widetilde{B} = \{ y(\cdot) \in C(T_0, E); \|y(\cdot)\|_c \le \|y_0\| + r, \|y(t_2) - y(t_1)\|$$

$$\le \frac{2M}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} (t_2 - t_1)^{\alpha} \text{ for all } t_1, t_2 \in T_0 \}.$$

We will show that Q maps  $\widetilde{B}$  into itself and Q restricted to the set  $\widetilde{B}$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous. To show that  $Q: \widetilde{B} \to \widetilde{B}$ , let  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$  and  $t \in T_0$ . Again, without loss of generality, assume that  $(Qy)(t) \neq 0$ . By the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and  $||(Qy)(t)|| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) \rangle|$ .

Then by (h3), we have

$$||(Qy)(t)|| \leq ||y_0|| + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} |\langle y^*, f(s, y(s)) \rangle| ds$$
  
$$\leq ||y_0|| + \frac{Ma^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \leq ||y_0|| + r,$$

and using (2.4.2) it follows that Q maps  $\widetilde{B}$  into  $\widetilde{B}$ . Next, we show that Q is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous. First, we recall that the weak convergence in  $\widetilde{B} \subset C(T_0, E)$  is exactly the weak pointwise convergence. Let  $\{y_n(\cdot)\}_{n\geq 1}$  be a sequence in  $\widetilde{B}$  such that  $y_n(\cdot)$  converges weakly to  $y(\cdot)$  in  $\widetilde{B}$ . Then  $y_n(t)$  converges weakly to y(t) in E for each  $t \in T_0$ . Since  $\widetilde{B}$  is a closed convex set, by Mazur's lemma we have  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$ . Further, by (h1) it follows that  $f(t, y_n(t))$  converges weakly to f(t, y(t)) for each  $t \in T_0$ . Then the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem for the Pettis integral (see [88]) yields  $I^{\alpha}y_n(t)$  converging weakly to  $I^{\alpha}y(t)$  in E for each  $t \in T_0$ . Since  $\widetilde{B}$  is equicontinuous subset of  $C(T_0, E)$  it follows that  $Q(\cdot)$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous.

Suppose that  $V \subset \widetilde{B}$  such that  $V = \overline{co}(Q(V) \cup \{y(\cdot)\})$  for some  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$ . We will show that V is relatively weakly compact in  $C(T_0, E)$ . Let

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds = \left\{ \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds; y(\cdot) \in V \right\}$$

and  $(QV)(t) = y_0 + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,V(s)) ds$ . Let  $t \in T_0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . If we choose  $\eta > 0$  such that  $\eta < \left(\frac{\varepsilon\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{M}\right)^{1/\alpha}$  and  $\int_{t-\eta}^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \neq 0$  then, by the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and

$$\left\| \int_{t-n}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\| = \left| \left\langle y^*, \int_{t-n}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\rangle \right|.$$

It follows that

$$\left\| \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\| \leq \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left| \langle y^*, f(s,y(s)) \rangle \right| ds \leq \varepsilon,$$

and thus using property (x) measure of the non-compactness we infer

$$\beta \left( \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \le 2\varepsilon. \tag{2.4.3}$$

Since by Lemma 1.5.1 the function  $s \to v(s) := \beta(V(s))$  is continuous on  $[0, t - \eta]$  it follows that  $s \to (t - s)^{\alpha - 1} g(v(s))$  is continuous on  $[0, t - \eta]$ . Hence, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\left\| (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} g(v(\tau)) - (t-s)^{\alpha-1} g(v(s)) \right\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

and

$$||g(v(\xi)) - g(v(\tau))|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2n^{\alpha - 1}}.$$

If  $|\tau - s| < \delta$  and  $|\tau - \xi| < \delta$  with  $\tau, s, \xi \in [0, t - \eta]$ , then it follows that

$$|(t-\tau)^{\alpha-1}g(v(\xi)) - (t-s)^{\alpha-1}g(v(s))| \le$$

$$|(t-\tau)^{\alpha-1}g(v(\tau)) - (t-s)^{\alpha-1}g(v(s))| + (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1}|g(v(\xi)) - g(v(\tau))| < \varepsilon,$$

that is

$$|(t-\tau)^{\alpha-1}g(v(\xi)) - (t-s)^{\alpha-1}g(v(s))| < \varepsilon,$$
 (2.4.4)

for all  $\tau, s, \xi \in [0, t - \eta]$  with  $|\tau - s| < \delta$  and  $|\tau - \xi| < \delta$ . Consider the following partition of the interval  $[0, t - \eta]$  into n parts  $0 = t_0 < t_1 \ldots < t_n = t - \eta$  such that  $t_i - t_{i-1} < \delta$   $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$ . By Lemma 1.5.1 for each i there exists  $s_i \in [t_{i-1}, t_i]$  such that  $\beta(V([t_{i-1}, t_i])) = v(s_i)$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ . Then we have (see [37, Theorem 2.2])

$$\int_{0}^{t-n} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds \subset$$

$$\subset \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, V(s)) ds$$

$$\subset \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, y(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_{i}], y \in V \},$$

and so

$$\beta \left( \int_{0}^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, y(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_{i}], y \in V \} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, y(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_{i}], y \in V \} \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1} \beta \left( f(T_0 \times V[t_{i-1}, t_i]) \right) 
\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1} g(\beta(V[t_{i-1}, t_i])) \leq 
\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1} g(v(s_i)).$$

Using (2.4.4) we have that

$$|(t-t_i)^{\alpha-1}g(v(s_i))-(t-s)^{\alpha-1}g(v(s))|<\varepsilon.$$

This implies that

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1} g(v(s_i)) \le \int_0^{t - \eta} \frac{(t - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon (t - \eta).$$

Thus we obtain

$$\beta\left(\int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds\right) \le \int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon(t-\eta). \quad (2.4.5)$$

Because

$$(QV)(t) \subset \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,V(s)) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,V(s)) ds,$$

then by virtue of (2.4.3) and (2.4.5) we have

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \leq \int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon(t-\eta) + 2\varepsilon$$
$$\leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon(t+\tau).$$

As the last inequality is true for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we infer

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \le \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds.$$

Because  $V = \overline{co}(Q(V) \cup \{y(\cdot)\})$  then

$$\beta(V(t)) = \beta(\overline{co}(Q(V(t)) \cup \{y(t)\})) \le \beta((QV(t)))$$

and thus

$$v(t) \le \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(v(s)) ds \text{ for } t \in T_0.$$

Since  $g(\cdot)$  is a Gripenberg function, it follows that v(t) = 0 for  $t \in T_0$ . Since V as a subset of  $\widetilde{B}$  is equicontinuous, by Lemma 1.5.1 we infer

$$\beta_c(V(T_0)) = \sup_{t \in T_0} \beta(V(t)) = 0.$$

Thus, by Arzelá-Ascoli's theorem we obtain that V is weakly relatively compact in  $C(T_0, E)$ . Using Theorem 1.5.2 there exists a fixed point of the operator Q which is a solution of (2.3.1).

If E is reflexive and  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is bounded, then (h4) is automatically satisfied since a subset of a reflexive Banach space is weakly compact iff it is closed in the weak topology and bounded in the norm topology.

We end this section with some remarks. If for  $\alpha = 1$  we put  $D_p^1 y(\cdot) = y_p'(\cdot)$ , then from Theorem 2.4.1 we obtain the following result (see [17], [49]).

**Corollary 2.4.2.** If  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a function that satisfies the conditions (h1)-(h4) in Theorem 2.4.1, then the differential equation

$$\begin{cases} y_p'(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$
 (2.4.6)

has a solution on [0, a] with  $a = \min\{b, r/M\}$ .

## 2.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, we developed the fractional calculus for functions with values in a nonreflexive Banach space equipped with the weak topology. Involving the concept of Pettis integral, we introduced and studied the notions of fractional Pettis integral and pseudo-fractional derivative. Using these tools we obtain an existence result for fractional differential equations in a nonreflexive Banach space equipped with the weak topology.

# Chapter 3

# Multi-term Fractional Differential Equation

## 3.1 Multi-term Fractional Differential Equations

In chapter 2, we introduced pseudo solution of fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces. We also exhibited the existence of solution of fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces. Furthermore, in last chapter we considered those differential equations which has one differential operator but in certain cases we deal with differential equations which contain more than one differential operator. This type of differential equations are known as multi-term differential equations. In this chapter we will establish an existence result for the multi-term fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces. Consider the following multi-term fractional differential equation,

$$\left(D^{\alpha_m} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} a_i D^{\alpha_i}\right) u(t) = f(t, u(t)) \quad \text{for } t \in [0, 1], \ u(0) = 0.$$
(3.1.1)

where  $D^{\alpha_m}u(\cdot)$  and  $D^{\alpha_i}u(\cdot)$  are fractional pseudo-derivative of a weakly absolutely continuous and pseudo-differentiable function  $u(\cdot):[0,1]\to E$  of order  $\alpha_m$  and  $\alpha_i$ ,  $i=1,2,\ldots,m-1$ , respectively, the function  $f(t,\cdot):[0,1]\times E\to E$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous for every  $t\in[0,1]$  and  $f(\cdot,y(\cdot))$  is Pettis integrable for every weakly absolutely continuous function  $y(\cdot):[0,1]\to E$ , E is nonreflexive Banach space,  $0<\alpha_1<\alpha_2<\ldots<\alpha_m<1$  and  $a_1,a_2\ldots a_{m-1}$  are real numbers such that  $a:=\sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\frac{|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m-\alpha_i+1)}<1$ .

Along with the Cauchy problem (3.1.1) consider the following integral equation,

$$u(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \int_0^t \frac{a_i(t-s)^{(\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} u(s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} f(s, u(s)) ds, \qquad (3.1.2)$$

 $t \in T = [0, 1]$ , where the integral is in the sense of Pettis.

**Definition 3.1.1.** A continuous function  $u(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be a solution of (3.1.1) if,

- (i)  $u(\cdot)$  has pseudo derivative of order  $\alpha_i$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \dots m$ ,
- (ii) the pseudo derivative of  $u(\cdot)$  of order  $\alpha_i$ , i = 1, 2, ... m, belong to  $P^{\infty}(T, E)$ ,

(iii) 
$$\left(D^{\alpha_m} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} a_i D^{\alpha_i}\right) u(t) \approx f(t, u(t))$$
 for all  $t \in T$ ,

(iv) u(0) = 0

Reasoning as in the proof of the Lemma 2.3.1 we can easily prove the following result.

**Lemma 3.1.1.** Let  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  be a function such that  $f(\cdot, u(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T, E)$  for every continuous function  $u(\cdot): T \to E$ . Then a continuous function  $u(\cdot): T \to E$  is a solution of (3.1.1) if and only if it satisfies the integral equation (3.1.2).

We recall that a function  $f(\cdot): E \to E$  is said to be sequentially continuous from  $E_w$  into  $E_w$  (or weakly-weakly sequentially continuous) if for every weakly convergent sequence  $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset E$ , the sequence  $\{f(x_n)\}_{n\geq 1}$  is weakly convergent in E.

### 3.2 Existence of Solution

In this section we establish an existence result for the multi-term fractional differential equation (3.1.1) in nonreflexive Banach spaces.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let r > 0. Assume  $f(\cdot, \cdot) : T \times E \to E$  be a function such that:

- (h1)  $f(t,\cdot)$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous for every  $t \in T$ ;
- (h2)  $f(\cdot, u(\cdot))$  is Pettis integrable for every continuous function  $u(\cdot): T \to E$ ;
- $(h3) ||f(t,y)|| \le M \text{ for all } (t,y) \in T \times E;$
- (h4) for every bounded set  $A \subseteq E$  we have

$$\beta(f(T \times A)) \le g(\beta(A)),$$

where  $g(\cdot)$  is a Gripenberg function. Then (3.1.1) admits a solution  $u(\cdot)$  on an interval  $T_0 = [0, a_0]$  with

$$a_0 = \min \left\{ 1, \left[ \frac{r(1-a)\Gamma(\alpha_m+1)}{M} \right]^{1/\alpha_m} \right\}.$$

**Proof:** We define the nonlinear operator  $Q(\cdot):C(T_0,E)\to C(T_0,E)$  by

$$(Qu)(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \int_0^t \frac{a_i(t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} u(s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} f(s, u(s)) ds,$$

for all  $t \in [0, a_0]$ . If  $y(\cdot) \in C(T_0, E)$ , then by (h2) we have that  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot)) \in P^{\infty}(T_0, E)$  and so the operator Q makes sense. To show that Q is well defined, let  $t, s \in T_0$  with t > s. Without loss of generality, assume that  $(Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \neq 0$ . Then by the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and  $||(Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s)|| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \rangle|$ . Then

$$\| (Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \rangle| \le$$

$$\le \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^s \left[ (s - \tau)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} - (t - \tau)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} \right] |\langle y^*, u(\tau) \rangle| d\tau$$

$$+ \int_s^t (t - \tau)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} |\langle y^*, f(\tau, u(\tau)) \rangle| d\tau +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^s \left[ (s - \tau)^{\alpha_m - 1} - (t - \tau)^{\alpha_m - 1} \right] |\langle y^*, u(\tau) \rangle| d\tau$$

$$+ \int_s^t (t - \tau)^{\alpha_m - 1} |\langle y^*, f(\tau, u(\tau)) \rangle| d\tau$$

$$\le 2 \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{r|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i + 1)} + \frac{M}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)} \right] (t - s)^{\alpha_m}.$$

$$(3.2.1)$$

so Q maps  $C(T_0, E)$  into itself. Let r > 0 and let  $\widetilde{B}$  be the convex, closed and equicontinous set defined by

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{B} &= \{y(\cdot) \in C(T_0, E); \|y(\cdot)\|_c \le r, \ \|y(t) - y(s)\| \le \\ &\le 2 \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{r|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i + 1)} + \frac{M}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)} \right] (t - s)^{\alpha_m} \text{ for all } t, s \in T_0 \}. \end{split}$$

We will show that Q maps  $\widetilde{B}$  into itself and Q restricted to the set  $\widetilde{B}$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous. To show that  $Q: \widetilde{B} \to \widetilde{B}$ , let  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$  and  $t \in T_0$ .

Again, without loss of generality, assume that  $(Qy)(t) \neq 0$ . By the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and  $||(Qy)(t)|| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) \rangle|$ . Then by (h3), we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \|(Qu)(t)\| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t)\rangle| \le \\ \le & \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^t (t - s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} |\langle y^*, u(\tau)\rangle| \, ds + \\ & \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^t (t - s)^{\alpha_m - 1} |\langle y^*, f(\tau, u(\tau))\rangle| \, ds \le \\ \le & \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{r|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i + 1)} + \frac{Mt^{\alpha_m}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)} \le ra + (1 - a)r = r \end{aligned}$$

and using (3.2.1) it follows that Q maps  $\widetilde{B}$  into  $\widetilde{B}$ . Next, we show that Q is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous. First, we recall that the weak convergence in  $\widetilde{B} \subset C(T_0, E)$  is exactly the weak pointwise convergence. Let  $\{u_n(\cdot)\}_{n\geq 1}$  be a sequence in  $\widetilde{B}$  such that  $u_n(\cdot)$  converges weakly to  $u(\cdot)$  in  $\widetilde{B}$ . Then  $u_n(t)$  converges weakly to u(t) in E for each  $t \in T_0$ . Since  $\widetilde{B}$  is a closed convex set, by Mazur's lemma we have  $u(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$ . Further, by (h1) it follows that  $f(t, u_n(t))$  converges weakly to f(t, u(t)) for each  $t \in T_0$ . Then the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem for the Pettis integral (see [88]) yields  $I^{\alpha}u_n(t)$  converging weakly to  $I^{\alpha}u(t)$  in E for each  $t \in T_0$ . Since  $\widetilde{B}$  is equicontinuous subset of  $C(T_0, E)$  it follows that  $Q(\cdot)$  is weakly-weakly sequentially continuous.

Suppose that  $V \subset \widetilde{B}$  such that  $V = \overline{co}(Q(V) \cup \{y(\cdot)\})$  for some  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$ . We will show that V is relatively weakly compact in  $C(T_0, E)$ . Let  $t \in T_0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . If we choose  $\eta > 0$  such that  $\eta < \left(\frac{\varepsilon\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)}{M + r\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)}\right)^{1/\alpha_m}$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} u(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)) ds \neq 0$$

then, by the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and

$$\left\| \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} u(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)) ds \right\|$$

$$= \left| \left\langle y^*, \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} u(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)) ds \right\rangle \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{|a_i|}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} |\langle y^*, u(\tau) \rangle| ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} |\langle y^*, f(\tau, u(\tau)) \rangle| ds$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{r|a_i|\eta^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i + 1)} + \frac{M\eta^{\alpha_m}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)} \leq r\eta^{\alpha_m} + \frac{M\eta^{\alpha_m}}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)}$$

$$\leq \frac{M + r\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)}{\Gamma(\alpha_m + 1)} \eta^{\alpha_m} < \varepsilon.$$

and thus using property (x) measure of the non-compactness we infer

$$\beta\left(\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} u(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)) ds, \ u \in V\right\}\right) \le 2\varepsilon.$$
(3.2.2)

Since by Lemma 1.5.1 the function  $t \to v(t) := \beta(V(t))$  is continuous on  $[0, t - \eta]$  it follows that  $s \to (t - s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s))$  is continuous on  $[0, t - \eta]$ . Hence, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\left\| (t-\tau)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(\tau)) - (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s)) \right\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

and

$$||g(v(\xi)) - g(v(\tau))|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2\eta^{\alpha_m - 1}}.$$

If  $|\tau - s| < \delta$  and  $|\tau - \xi| < \delta$  with  $\tau$ , s,  $\xi \in [0, t - \eta]$ , then it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |(t-\tau)^{\alpha_{m}-1}g(v(\xi)) - (t-s)^{\alpha_{m}-1}g(v(s))| &\leq |(t-\tau)^{\alpha_{m}-1}g(v(\tau)) - (t-s)^{\alpha_{m}-1}g(v(s))| \\ &+ |(t-\tau)^{\alpha_{m}-1}|g(v(\xi)) - g(v(\tau))| \\ &< \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

that is

$$|(t-\tau)^{\alpha_m-1}g(v(\xi)) - (t-s)^{\alpha_m-1}g(v(s))| < \varepsilon,$$
 (3.2.3)

for all  $\tau$ , s,  $\xi \in [0, t - \eta]$  with  $|\tau - s| < \delta$  and  $|\tau - \xi| < \delta$ . Consider the following partition of the interval  $[0, t - \eta]$  into n parts  $0 = t_0 < t_1 \ldots < t_n = t - \eta$  such that  $t_i - t_{i-1} < \delta$   $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$ . By Lemma 1.5.1 for each i there exists  $s_i \in [t_{i-1}, t_i]$  such that  $\beta(V([t_{i-1}, t_i])) = v(s_i)$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ . Then we have (see [37], Theorem 2.2)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_{i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i} - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds \subset$$

$$\subset \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_{i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i})} \int_{t-\eta}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i} - 1} V(s) ds + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m})} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds \subset$$

$$\subset \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_{i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i})} \int_{t-\eta}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i} - 1} V(s) ds +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m})} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - 1} f(s, u(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_{i}], \ u \in V \},$$
and so
$$\beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_{i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i} - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \leq$$

$$C \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_{i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - \alpha_{i} - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{m})} \int_{0}^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_{m} - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \leq$$

$$\beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)}) \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_i], u \in V \} \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \{ (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \{ (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, u(s)); s \in [t_{i-1}, t_i], u \in V \} \right) \leq \beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) (t-t_i)^{\alpha_m - 1} \beta \left( f([0, a_0] \times V[t_{i-1}, t_i]) \right)$$

$$\leq \beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t - s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^n (t_i - t_{i-1}) (t - t_i)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(V[t_{i-1}, t_i]) \leq$$

$$\leq \beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t - s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{i=1}^n (t_i - t_{i-1}) (t - t_i)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s_i)).$$

Using (3.2.3) we have that

$$|(t-t_i)^{\alpha_m-1}g(v(s_i))-(t-s)^{\alpha_m-1}g(v(s))|<\varepsilon.$$

This implies that

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \sum_{j=1}^n (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s_i))$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t - \eta} (t - s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon (t - \eta) / \Gamma(\alpha_m).$$
(3.2.4)

By using (3.2.2) we claim that

$$\beta\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds\right) \le 2\varepsilon. \tag{3.2.5}$$

Because if we let that

$$A(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds,$$

$$B(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds,$$

then  $a+B(t) \subset A(t)+B(t)$  for  $a \in A(t)$ , implies that  $\beta(B(t)) \leq \beta(A(t)+B(t)) < 2\varepsilon$ . From relations (3.2.4) and (3.2.5) we obtain

$$\beta \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \le 2\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(V(s)) ds + \varepsilon (t-\eta) / \Gamma(\alpha_m).$$

$$(3.2.6)$$

Since

$$(QV)(t) \subset \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{a_i}{\Gamma(\alpha_m - \alpha_i)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - \alpha_i - 1} V(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} f(s, V(s)) ds,$$

then by virtue of (3.2.2) and (3.2.6) we have

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha_m-1} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon(t-\eta)/\Gamma(\alpha_m) + 4\varepsilon$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m-1} g(v(s)) ds + \varepsilon((t+4)/\Gamma(\alpha_m)).$$

As the last inequality is true for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we infer

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \le \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s)) ds, \ t \in [0, a_0],$$

Because  $V = \overline{co}(Q(V) \cup \{y(\cdot)\})$  then

$$\beta(V(t)) = \beta\left(\overline{co}(Q(V(t)) \cup \{y(t)\})\right) \le \beta((QV(t)))$$

and thus

$$v(t) \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_m)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha_m - 1} g(v(s)) ds \text{ for } t \in T_0.$$

Since  $g(\cdot)$  is a Gripenberg function, it follows that v(t) = 0 for  $t \in T_0$ . Since V as a subset of  $\widetilde{B}$  is equicontinuous, by Lemma 1.5.1 we infer

$$\beta_c(V(T_0)) = \sup_{t \in T_0} \beta(V(t)) = 0.$$

Thus, by Arzelá-Ascoli's theorem we obtain that V is weakly relatively compact in  $C(T_0, E)$ . Using Theorem 1.5.2 there exists a fixed point of the operator Q which is a solution of (3.1.1).

### 3.3 Conclusion

In this chapter, involving the concept of Pettis integral, we developed the existence of solution of multi-term fractional differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, equipped with weak topology.

# Chapter 4

# Weak Solution For Fractional Differential Equation

In chapter 2, 3 we discussed the existence of solution of fractional differential equations, with one differential operator and multi-term fractional equations respectively, in nonreflexive Banach spaces. In the present chapter we will establish an existence of weak solution for the following fractional differential equation

$$\begin{cases} D_w^{\alpha} y(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$
 (4.0.1)

where  $D_w^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$  is fractional Caputo weak derivative of the function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  and  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a given function, T is bounded interval of real numbers containing 0 and E is nonreflexive Banach space.

#### 4.1 Preliminaries

Let  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  be a given function and  $\alpha > 0$ . As it is well known that, the fractional Riemann-Liouville integral of order  $\alpha > 0$  of  $x(\cdot)$  is defined by

$$I^{\alpha}x(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds, \ t \in [0,b],$$
 (4.1.1)

provided that the right side is point-wise defined on T. Also, the fractional Caputo derivative of order  $\alpha \in (0,1]$  of  $x(\cdot)$  is defined by

$$D^{\alpha}x(t) := I^{1-\alpha}x'(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}x'(s)ds, \ t \in T,$$
 (4.1.2)

provided that the right side is point-wise defined on T. In the above definitions the integral sign " $\int$ " can be one of the following integrals: Riemann integral, Riemann-Pettis integral, weak Riemann integral, Bochner integral, Pettis integral or other kind of integral. Also, the derivative can be one of the following: strong derivative, weak derivative or a Pseudo-derivative. The definitions, properties and applications to fractional differential equations of fractional calculus using Bochner integral or Pettis integral can be found in the papers [3], [12], [74].

## 4.2 Vector-Valued Fractional Integral And Abel Integral Equation

In this section we set out to state vector-valued fractional integral and derivatives and prove results from [5], that will be used in the remainder of this dissertation. We will discuss fractional Pettis integral, fractional Bochner integral and Riemann-Pettis integral.

**Proposition 4.2.1.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is R-integrable on T, then

$$I^{\alpha}x(t) = (P) \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds, \quad t \in T,$$
(4.2.1)

that is,  $I^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists on T as a fractional Pettis integral.

**Proof.** Indeed, since  $x(\cdot)$  is R-integrable on T then, by Theorem 15 from [41], it follows that  $x(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable on T. Moreover, by Theorem 7 from [41],  $x(\cdot)$  is also scalarly Riemann integrable on T, and so it is weakly measurable and bounded on T. Thus,  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle \in L^{\infty}(T)$  for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Next, since the real function  $s \mapsto \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)}$  belongs to  $L^1([0,t])$  for each  $t \in (0,b]$  then, by Corollary 3.41 from [67], it follows that the function  $s \mapsto \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)}x(s)$  is Pettis integrable on [0,t] for every  $t \in (0,b]$ .

**Remark 4.2.1.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is strongly measurable and R-integrable on T, then fractional integral  $I^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists a.e. on T as a fractional Bochner integral. This result is a direct consequence of Theorem 15 of [41] and Theorem 2.4 from [76].

**Proposition 4.2.2.** Let  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and let  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  be a strongly differentiable function on T. If the strong derivative  $x'(\cdot)$  of  $x(\cdot)$  is R-integrable on T, then

$$D^{\alpha}x(t) = (B) \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x'(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$
 (4.2.2)

that is,  $D^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists a.e. on T as a fractional Bochner integral.

**Proof.** Since  $x(\cdot)$  is strongly differentiable on T, then  $x(\cdot)$  is strongly continuous on T, and so  $x'(\cdot)$  is strongly measurable on T. It follows that  $x'(\cdot)$  is Bochner integrable and thus, by Theorem 2.4 from [76],  $I^{1-\alpha}x(\cdot)$  exists a.e. on T as a fractional Bochner integral.

The main properties of fractional Bochner or fractional Pettis integral together with their applications to fractional differential equations are well known, being the subject of several works.

In the following, we will focus on the study of Riemann-Pettis integrability and its applications to fractional calculus and fractional differential equations. Graves [42] gave an example of a R-integrable function  $x(\cdot):[0,1]\to E$  which is not weakly continuous for any  $t\in[0,1]$ . A similar example was given by Alexiewicz and Orlicz [6] in the case when E is not separable. Moreover, Alexiewicz and Orlicz [6] gave an example of weakly continuous function which is not R-integrable. Kerner [47] has considered another type of integral, corresponding to weak convergence.

A function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be *Riemann-Pettis integrable* (or *RP-integrable*, for short) on T if  $x(\cdot)$  is a scalarly Riemann integrable and, for each interval  $I \subset T$ , there exists an element  $z_I \in E$  such that

$$\langle x^*, z_I \rangle = \int_I \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds$$
 (4.2.3)

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . The element  $z_I$  will be denoted by  $(w) \int_I x(s) ds$  and it is called the weak Riemann integral of  $x(\cdot)$  on I. Also, a RP-integrable function is sometime called weakly Riemann integrable function. In fact, RP-integrability on T is equivalent to the weak convergence of Riemann sums (1.4.3).

It is easy to see that every R-integrable function is RP-integrable, and every RP-integrable function is Pettis integrable (see [41]). Alexiewicz and Orlicz [6] give an example which proves that neither RP-integrability nor weakly continuity do imply

R-integrability. We shall denote by RP(T, E) the set of all RP-integrable function from T into E.

**Proposition 4.2.3.** (Kerner [47], Alexiewicz and Orlicz [6]). Every weakly continuous function from T into E is RP-integrable on T, that is,  $C_w(T, E) \subset RP(T, E)$ .

The following properties are well known and easy to prove, they being direct consequences of the definition and of the properties of the weak differentiability.

**Proposition 4.2.4.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is weakly continuous on T, then the function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ , given by

$$y(t) = (w) \int_0^t x(s)ds, \quad t \in T,$$
 (4.2.4)

is weakly differentiable on T and  $y'_w(t) = x(t)$  for every  $t \in T$ .

**Proposition 4.2.5.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is weakly differentiable on T and  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is weakly continuous on T, then

$$x(t) = x(0) + (w) \int_0^t x_w'(s) ds, \quad t \in T.$$
(4.2.5)

**Proposition 4.2.6.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is RP-integrable on T, then

$$I_w^{\alpha}x(t) := \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds, \quad t \in T, \tag{4.2.6}$$

exists on T as a fractional Pettis integral. Moreover,  $I_w^{\alpha}$  is a linear operator from RP(T,E) into  $P^{\infty}(T,E)$ , and for  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in (0,1)$  we have

$$I_w^{\alpha} I_w^{\beta} x(t) = I_w^{\alpha+\beta} x(t), \ t \in T. \tag{4.2.7}$$

**Proof.** Since each RP-integrable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is Pettis integrable, then as in the proof of Proposition 4.2.1 we infer that  $I_w^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists on T as a fractional Pettis integral. The linearity of  $I_w^{\alpha}$  is obviously, and (4.2.7) can be obtained in the same manner as in Lemma 3.2 from [2].

We remark that if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is R-integrable on T and measurable then  $I_w^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists on T as a fractional Bochner integral and  $I_w^{\alpha}x(t) = I^{\alpha}x(t)$  for  $t \in T$ .

**Remark 4.2.2.** Also, if  $x(\cdot) \in C_w(T, E)$ , then  $x(\cdot)$  is bounded on T. Then, if we put  $M := \sup_{t \in T} ||x(t)||$  and fix  $x^* \in E^*$ , it is easy to check that for  $t, s \in T$ ,  $s \leq t$ , we have

$$|\langle x^*, I_w^{\alpha} x(t) \rangle - \langle x^*, I_w^{\alpha} x(s) \rangle| \le \frac{2M||x^*||}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} (t-s)^{\alpha}.$$

It follows that the real-valued function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, I_w^{\alpha} x(t) \rangle$  is continuous on T for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , an so  $I_w^{\alpha}$  is a linear operator from  $C_w(T, E)$  into  $C_w(T, E)$ .

Since the weak derivative  $x'_w(\cdot)$  of a weakly differentiable function  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is strongly measurable, then with the same proof as in Proposition 4.2.2, we obtain the following result.

**Proposition 4.2.7.** Let  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and let  $x(\cdot) : T \to E$  be a weakly differentiable function on T. If the weak derivative  $x'_w(\cdot)$  of  $x(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable on T, then

$$D_w^{\alpha} x(t) := I_w^{1-\alpha} x'(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x'_w(s) ds, \quad t \in T,$$
 (4.2.8)

exists a.e. on T as a fractional Bochner integral (and so as a fractional Pettis integral).

Clearly, if  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is R-integrable on T, then  $D_w^{\alpha}x(t)$  exists on T as a fractional Bochner integral and  $D_w^{\alpha}x(t) = D^{\alpha}x(t)$  for  $t \in T$ .

**Example 1**. Let **c** be the space of all real converging sequences. Consider  $y(\cdot)$ :  $[0, 2\pi] \to \mathbf{c}$  given by

$$y(t)(n) = \frac{\sin nt}{n}, \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Since  $y(\cdot)$  is bounded and scalarly integrable on  $[0, 2\pi]$ , then  $y(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable on  $[0, 2\pi]$ . Also, for each  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}^* = \mathbf{l}^1$  there exists a unique  $a = (a_1, a_2, ...) \in \mathbf{l}^1$  such that

$$\langle x^*, y(t) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{\sin nt}{n}, \ t \in [0, 2\pi].$$

Since  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{\sin nt}{n}$  is uniformly and absolutely convergent on  $[0, 2\pi]$ , then for each  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}^*$  we have (see [58, page 355])

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{1/2-1}}{\Gamma(1/2)} \left\langle x^*, y(s) \right\rangle ds = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(1/2)} \left( \sum_{n=1}^\infty a_n \frac{\sin ns}{n} \right) ds$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n} \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(1/2)} \sin ns ds = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n} z(t)(n) = \langle x^*, z(t) \rangle,$$

where

$$z(t)(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} \left[ C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \sin nt - S\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \cos nt \right],$$

and C(x), S(x) are Fresnel integrals

$$C(x) = \int_0^x \cos \frac{\pi s^2}{2} ds$$
 and  $S(x) = \int_0^x \sin \frac{\pi s^2}{2} ds$ ,

respectively. Obviously,  $z(\cdot) \in \mathbf{c}$ , and thus

$$I_w^{1/2}y(t)(n) = z(t)(n), \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Also, we remark that  $y(\cdot)$  is not weakly differentiable on  $[0, 2\pi]$  (see [81]). If we consider  $x(\cdot):[0, 2\pi]\to \mathbf{c}$  given by

$$x(t)(n) = \frac{\sin nt}{n^2}, \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, ...,$$

then  $x(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable and it is easy to see that

$$x'_w(t)(n) = \frac{\cos nt}{n}, \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Since  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{\cos nt}{n}$  is uniformly and absolutely convergent on  $[0, 2\pi]$ , then for each  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}^*$  we have (see [58, page 354])

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(1-1/2)} \langle x^*, x_w'(s) \rangle \, ds = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(1/2)} \left( \sum_{n=1}^\infty a_n \frac{\cos ns}{n} \right) ds$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n} \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-1/2}}{\Gamma(1/2)} \cos ns ds = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n u(t)(n) = \langle x^*, u(t) \rangle,$$

where

$$u(t)(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} \left[ C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \cos nt + S\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \sin nt \right].$$

Obviously,  $u(\cdot) \in \mathbf{c}$ , and thus

$$D_w^{1/2}x(t)(n) = u(t)(n), \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$

**Lemma 4.2.8.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a weakly differentiable function such that  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable on T, then the function

$$x_{1-\alpha}(t) := \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} x(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$

is wAC and weakly differentiable on T. Moreover,  $(x_{1-\alpha})'_w(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable and

$$(x_{1-\alpha})'_{w}(t) = \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}y(0) + I^{1-\alpha}x'_{w}(t) \quad a.e. \text{ on } T.$$
 (4.2.9)

**Proof.** Since  $x(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle$  is differentiable on T and  $\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, x'_w(t) \rangle$  for  $t \in T$ . The last equality implies

$$\int_0^s \langle x^*, x_w'(\tau) \rangle d\tau = \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle - \langle x^*, x(0) \rangle, \ s \in T, \tag{4.2.10}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . From (4.2.10) we obtain that

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_0^s \langle x^*, x_w'(\tau) \rangle d\tau ds = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds - \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(0) \rangle ds, \ t \in T,$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . It follows that

$$\int_0^t \int_0^s \frac{(s-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x_w'(\tau) \rangle d\tau ds$$

$$= \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle ds - \frac{t^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(0) \rangle,$$

and so

$$\langle x^*, x_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \frac{t^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(0) \rangle + \int_0^t y(s) ds, \ t \in T, \tag{4.2.11}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , where  $y(s) = \int_0^s \frac{(s-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \langle x^*, x_w'(\tau) \rangle d\tau$ ,  $s \in [0,t]$ . Since  $y(\cdot)$  is Lebesgue integrable on [0,t] for every  $t \in (0,b]$ , then from (4.2.11) it follows that the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is AC on T for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Hence, from (4.2.11) we infer that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left\langle x^*, x_{1-\alpha}(t) \right\rangle = \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, x(0) \right\rangle + \int_0^t \frac{(t-\tau)^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left\langle x^*, x_w'(\tau) \right\rangle d\tau,$$

for a.e.  $t \in T$ . Therefore, the function  $x_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC and weakly differentiable on T, and (4.2.9) holds.

**Remark 4.2.3.** Relation (4.2.9) can be written as

$$D_w^{\alpha} x(t) = (x_{1-\alpha})_w'(t) - \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y(0) \quad a.e. \text{ on } T.$$
 (4.2.12)

In this case  $(x_{1-\alpha})'_w(t)$  will be denoted by  $^{RL}D^{\alpha}_wx(t)$  and it is called the weak Riemann-Liouville derivative of  $x(\cdot)$ . The formula (4.2.12) suggests us that we can extend the definition of the weak Caputo fractional derivative for RP-integrable functions. Therefore, if  $x(\cdot) \in RP(T,E)$ , then its weak Caputo derivative is defined by (4.2.12). It follows that the weak Caputo fractional derivatives  $D^{\alpha}_wx(t)$  are also defined for functions  $x(\cdot)$  for which the weak Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives  $^{RL}D^{\alpha}_wx(t)$  exist.

**Remark 4.2.4.** If  $x(\cdot)$  is not weakly differentiable, then  $x_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  will not be weakly differentiable.

**Example 2.** Consider  $y(\cdot):[0,2\pi]\to\mathbf{c}$  given by

$$y(t)(n) = \frac{\sin nt}{\sqrt{2n}}, \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, ...,$$

where  $\mathbf{c}$  is the space of all real convergent sequences. As in Example 1 we obtain that

$$y_{1-1/2}(t)(n) = I_w^{1/2}y(t)(n) = z(t)(n), \ t \in [0, 2\pi], \ n = 1, 2, ....,$$

where  $z(\cdot) \in \mathbf{c}$  is given by

$$z(t)(n) = \frac{1}{n} \left[ C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \sin nt - S\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \cos nt \right].$$

Now we show that  $y_{1-1/2}(\cdot)$  is not weakly differentiable on  $[0, 2\pi]$ . Since  $\mathbf{c}^* = \mathbf{l}^1$  for each  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}^* = \mathbf{l}^1$  there exists a unique  $a = (a_1, a_2, ...) \in \mathbf{l}^1$  such that

$$\langle x^*, z(t) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n z(t)(n), \ t \in [0, 2\pi].$$

Since  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{\cos nt}{\sqrt{n}}$  and  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{\sin t}{\sqrt{n}}$  are uniformly and absolutely convergent on  $[0, 2\pi]$  and the sequences  $C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right)$  and  $C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right)$  are uniformly bounded on  $[0, 2\pi]$  it follows that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, z(t) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n z'(t)(n) = C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \cos nt + S\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt}{\pi}}\right) \sin t$$

for  $t \in [0, 2\pi]$ . We suppose that the weak derivative of  $z(\cdot)$  at a point  $t_0 \in [0, 2\pi]$  exists and  $z'_w(t_0) = (b_1^0, b_2^0, ...) \in \mathbf{c}$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n z'(t_0)(n) = \frac{d}{dt} \left\langle x^*, z(\cdot) \right\rangle(t_0) = \left\langle x^*, z'_w(t_0) \right\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n b_n^0$$

for all  $x^* \in \mathbf{c}^*$ . From the above formula we obtain that  $b_n^0 = C\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt_0}{\pi}}\right)\cos nt_0 + S\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nt_0}{\pi}}\right)\sin t_0$ , n=1,2,... Note that  $\lim_{n\to\infty}b_n^0$  does not exist. This contradicts the hypothesis  $(b_1^0,b_2^0,...) \in \mathbf{c}$ . Hence,  $y_{1-1/2}(\cdot)$  is not weakly differentiate at any point of  $[0,2\pi]$ ..

**Remark 4.2.5.** Let  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  be a weakly differentiable function function such that  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable. Then as in the proof of Lemma 4.2.8 we can show that the function

$$x_{\alpha}(t) := \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds, \ t \in T,$$

is wAC and weakly differentiable and

$$(x_{\alpha})'_{w}(t) = \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)}x(0) + I_{w}^{\alpha}x'_{w}(t) \text{ on } T.$$

Also, if E is a weakly sequentially complete space and  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is weakly differentiable, then the function  $x_{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

Corollary 4.2.9. Let E be a weakly sequentially complete space. If  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is weakly differentiable, then the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is AC on T.

**Proposition 4.2.10.** If  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  is a weakly differentiable function such that  $x'_w(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable on T and  $\alpha, \beta \in (0,1)$ , then

(a) 
$$I_w^{\alpha} D_w^{\alpha} x(t) = x(t) - x(0)$$
 on T;

(b) 
$$D_w^{\alpha} I_w^{\alpha} x(t) = x(t)$$
 on  $T$ .

**Proof.** Indeed, using (4.2.8), Proposition 4.2.5 and Proposition 4.2.6, we have

$$I_w^{\alpha} D_w^{\alpha} x(t) = I_w^{\alpha} I_w^{1-\alpha} x_w'(t) = I_w^1 x_w'(t) = (w) \int_0^t x_w'(s) ds$$
$$= x(t) - x(0), \ t \in T.$$

Also, using Remark 4.2.5 and Proposition 4.2.5 we have

$$D_w^{\alpha} I_w^{\alpha} x(t) = I_w^{1-\alpha} (I_w^{\alpha} x)_w'(t) = I_w^{1-\alpha} \left[ \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(0) + I_w^{\alpha} x(t) \right]$$
$$= x(0) + (w) \int_0^t x_w'(s) ds = x(0) + x(t) - x(0) = x(t)$$

on T.

**Theorem 4.2.11.** If  $y(\cdot) \in RP(T, E)$ , then the Abel integral equation

$$\int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} x(s) ds = y(t), \ t \in T = T, \tag{4.2.13}$$

has a solution in  $x(\cdot) \in RP(T, E)$  if and only if the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  has the following properties:

- (a)  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,
- (b)  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable a.e. on T and

$$x(t) = (y_{1-\alpha})'_{w}(t), \text{ for a.e. } t \in T,$$
 (4.2.14)

(c)  $y_{1-\alpha}(0) = 0$ .

**Proof.** Suppose that  $x(\cdot) \in RP(T, E)$  is a solution of (4.2.13). Then from (4.2.13) it follows that

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle \, ds = \langle x^*, y(t) \rangle, \, t \in T, \tag{4.2.15}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Since  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle$  and  $\langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle$  are Riemann integrable (in particular, Lebesgue integrable) on T for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , using the same reasoning as in [80, Section 1.2] it follows that

$$\int_0^t \langle x^*, x(s) \rangle \, ds = \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle \,, \, t \in T, \tag{4.2.16}$$

for every  $x^* \in E^*$ . Since for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real-valued function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, x(t) \rangle$  is Lebesgue integrable on T, then it follows that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real-valued function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable a.e. on T,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t)\rangle = \langle x^*, x(t)\rangle$$
 for a.e.  $t \in T$ ,

and  $t \mapsto \frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is a bounded function on T. Therefore, for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is AC and weakly differentiable a.e. on T, and we are finished.

Conversely, suppose that the function  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is wAC and weakly differentiable a.e. on T, and  $y_{1-\alpha}(0) = 0$ . Since  $y_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable a.e. on T, then for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $t \mapsto \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$  is differentiable a.e. on T and  $\frac{d}{dt}\langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle = \langle x^*, (y_{1-\alpha})'_w(t) \rangle$  for a.e.  $t \in T$ . If for every  $x^* \in E^*$ , we put

 $g(x^*)(t) := \frac{d}{dt} \langle x^*, y_{1-\alpha}(t) \rangle$ , for a.e.  $t \in T$ , then  $g(x^*)(\cdot) \in L^1(T)$ . We will now show that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the real function  $g(x^*)(\cdot)$  is a solution of (4.2.15). For this purpose we replace  $\langle x^*, x(\cdot) \rangle$  by  $g(x^*)(\cdot)$  in the left-hand side of (4.2.15) and denote the result by  $f(x^*)(\cdot)$ , that is,

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} g(x^*)(s) ds = f(x^*)(t), \ t \in T.$$
(4.2.17)

If we show that for every  $x^* \in E^*$  the functions  $f(x^*)(\cdot)$  and  $\langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle$  are equal on T, then our assertion is proved. Note using (4.2.17), the equality  $f(x^*)(\cdot) = \langle x^*, y(\cdot) \rangle$  on T is shown in the proof of Theorem 2.1 from [80].

**Remark 4.2.6.** If  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  is replaced by  $\beta := 1 - \alpha \in (0,1)$ , then the results of Theorem 4.2.11 remain valid, that is, if  $y(\cdot) \in RP(T,E)$ , then the integral equation

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{-\beta}}{\Gamma(1-\beta)} x(s) ds = y(t), \ t \in T,$$

has a solution in  $x(\cdot) \in RP(T, E)$  if and only if the function  $y_{\beta}(\cdot)$  has the following properties:

- (a)  $y_{\beta}(\cdot)$  is wAC on T,
- (b)  $y_{\beta}(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable a.e. on T and

$$x(t) = (y_{\beta})'_{w}(t)$$
, for a.e.  $t \in T$ ,

(c)  $y_{\beta}(0) = 0$ .

## 4.3 Differential Equation With Caputo Weak Derivatives

In this section we establish an existence of weak solution for the following fractional differential equation, in nonreflexive Banach spaces.

$$\begin{cases} D_w^{\alpha} y(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$
 (4.3.1)

where  $D_w^{\alpha}y(\cdot)$  is fractional Caputo weak derivative of the function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  and  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a given function.

A continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is said to be a weak solution of (4.3.1) if  $y(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable,  $y'_w(\cdot)$  is RP-integrable,  $D_w^{\alpha}y(t) = f(t, y(t))$  for a.e.  $t \in T$  and  $y(0) = y_0$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1.** Let  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  be a function such that  $f(\cdot, y(\cdot))$  is weakly continuous for every continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$ . Then a continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a weak solution of (4.3.1) if and only if it satisfies the integral equation

$$y(t) = y_0 + (P) \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds, \quad t \in T.$$
 (4.3.2)

**Proof.** Indeed, if the continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  is a weak solution of (4.3.1), then from Proposition 4.2.10 it follows that  $y(t) - y(0) = I_w^{\alpha} f(t, y(t))$  on T; that is,  $y(\cdot)$  satisfies the integral equation (4.3.2). Conversely, suppose that the continuous function  $y(\cdot): T \to E$  satisfies the integral equation (4.3.2). Then the weakly continuous function  $z(\cdot) := f(\cdot, y(\cdot))$  satisfies the Abel equation

$$\int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} z(s) ds = v(s), \quad t \in T,$$

where  $v(t) := y(t) - y_0$ ,  $t \in T$ . From Theorem 4.2.11 it follows that  $v_{1-\alpha}(\cdot)$  is weakly differentiable a.e. on T and

$$z(t) = (v_{1-\alpha})'_w(t) = (y_{1-\alpha})'_w(t) - \frac{t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} y_0$$
 for a.e.  $t \in T$ .

Then by (4.2.12) we have that  $z(t) = D_w^{\alpha} y(t)$  for a.e.  $t \in T$ ; that is,  $D_w^{\alpha} y(t) = f(t, y(t))$  a.e. on T.

In the follows, assume that the function  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  satisfies the following assumptions:

- (h1)  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is weakly-weakly continuous;
- (h2)  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is bounded, that is, there exists M > 0 such that  $||f(t, y)|| \leq M$  for all  $(t, y) \in T \times E$ ;
- (h3)  $g:[0,\infty) \to [0,\infty)$  is a non-decreasing continuous function such that g(0) = 0 and g(t) < t for all t > 0;
- (h4)  $\beta(f(T \times A)) \leq g(\beta(A))$  for every bounded set  $A \subset E$ .

**Theorem 4.3.2.** Suppose that  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  satisfies (h1)-(h4). Then there exist an interval  $T_{\delta} = [0, \delta] \subset T$  such that the set of solutions of (4.3.1) defined on  $T_{\delta}$  is non-empty and compact in the space  $C_w(T_{\delta}, E)$ .

**Proof.** In our proof we shall use some ideas from the papers [7, 21]. Let  $\delta \in (0, b]$  be such that  $\frac{\delta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} < 1$ . Consider the nonlinear operator  $Q: C_w(T_{\delta}, E) \to C_w(T_{\delta}, E)$  defined by

 $(Qy)(t) = y_0 + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, y(s)) ds, \quad t \in T_\delta.$ 

We remark that for  $y(\cdot) \in C_w(T_\delta, E)$  we have that, by Remark 4.2.1, the operator Q is well defined. Let  $t \in T_\delta$ . By the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists  $x^* \in E^*$  such that  $||x^*|| = 1$  and  $||(Qy)(t)|| = |\langle x^*, (Qy)(t) \rangle|$ . Then, using the assumption (h2), we have

$$\|(Qy)(t)\| \leq \|y_0\| + \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} |\langle y^*, f(s, y(s)) \rangle| ds$$
  
$$\leq \|y_0\| + \frac{M\delta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} < \|y_0\| + M.$$

Let  $r := ||y_0|| + M$  and

$$\widetilde{B} := \{ y(\cdot) \in C_w(T_\delta, E); \|y(\cdot)\|_c \le r \}.$$

We shall consider  $\widetilde{B}$  as a topological subspace of  $C_w(T_{\delta}, E)$ . It is easy to see that  $\widetilde{B}$  is convex and closed, and  $Q(\widetilde{B}) \subset \widetilde{B}$ . Next we show that  $Q(\widetilde{B})$  is an equicontinuous set. Let  $t, s \in T_{\delta}$ . We suppose without loss of generality that s < t and  $(Qy)(t) \neq (Qy)(s)$ . By the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and

$$\|(Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s)\| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \rangle|. \text{ Then}$$

$$\|(Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s)\| = |\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) - (Qy)(s) \rangle|$$

$$= \left| \int_0^t \frac{(t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle y^*, f(\tau, y(\tau)) \rangle d\tau - \int_0^s \frac{(s - \tau)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \langle y^*, f(\tau, y(\tau)) \rangle d\tau \right|$$

$$\leq \int_0^s \left( \frac{(s - \tau)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} - \frac{(t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \right) |\langle y^*, f(\tau, y(\tau)) \rangle| d\tau +$$

$$\int_s^t \frac{(t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} |\langle y^*, f(\tau, y(\tau)) \rangle| d\tau$$

$$\leq \frac{M}{\Gamma(1 + \alpha)} [s^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} + 2(t - s)^{\alpha}] \leq \frac{2M}{\Gamma(1 + \alpha)} (t - s)^{\alpha},$$

and so  $Q(\widetilde{B})$  is an equicontinuous set. Next we will prove that Q restricted to  $\widetilde{B}$  is a continuous operator. For this, fix  $y(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| \le 1$ . Since  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is weakly-weakly continuous we have, by a Krasnoselskii type Lemma (see [87]), that there exists a weak neighborhood W of 0 in E such that  $|\langle y^*, f(s, y(s)) - f(s, z(s)) \rangle| \le \frac{\varepsilon \Gamma(1+\alpha)}{\delta^{\alpha}}$  for  $s \in T_{\delta}$  and  $z(\cdot) \in \widetilde{B}$  with  $y(s) - z(s) \in W$ . Then it follows that

$$|\langle y^*, (Qy)(t) - (Qz)(s)\rangle| \leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} |\langle y^*, f(s, y(s)) - f(s, z(s))\rangle| ds$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \leq \varepsilon,$$

and thus Q restricted to  $\widetilde{B}$  is a continuous operator.

Let  $K:=\overline{conv}Q(\widetilde{B})$ . Since  $Q(\widetilde{B})$  is bounded and equicontinuous in  $C(T_{\delta},E)$  it follows that K is also bounded and equicontinuous. Let V be a subset of K such that  $\beta_c(V) \neq 0$ ,  $V(t) := \{y(t); y(\cdot) \in V\}$  and  $(QV)(t) := \{(Qy)(t); y(\cdot) \in V\}$ . Let  $t \in T_{\delta}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . If we choose  $\eta > 0$  such that  $\eta < \left(\frac{\varepsilon\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{M}\right)^{1/\alpha}$  and  $\int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \neq 0$  then, by the Hahn-Banach theorem, there exists a  $y^* \in E^*$  with  $||y^*|| = 1$  and

$$\left\| \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\| = \left| \left\langle y^*, \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\rangle \right|.$$

It follows that

$$\left\| \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds \right\| \leq \int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left| \langle y^*, f(s,y(s)) \rangle \right| ds \leq \varepsilon,$$

and thus using property (x) of the measure of noncompactness we infer

$$\beta\left(\left\{\int_{t-\eta}^{t} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds\right\}\right) \le 2\varepsilon. \tag{4.3.3}$$

Next, since  $s \to (t-s)^{\alpha-1}$  is continuous on  $[0, t-\eta]$  it follows that there exists  $\gamma > 0$  such that

$$\left| (t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} - (t - s)^{\alpha - 1} \right| < \varepsilon$$

for all  $\tau, s \in [0, t - \eta]$  with  $|\tau - s| < \gamma$ . Consider the following partition of the interval  $[0, t - \eta]$  into n parts  $0 = t_0 < t_1 \ldots < t_n = t - \eta$  such that  $t_i - t_{i-1} < \delta$   $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$  and put  $T_i = [t_{i-1}, t_i]$ . Then we have (see [21])

$$\int_0^{t-n} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds =$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^n (w) \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_i} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,y(s)) ds$$

$$\in \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^n (t_i - t_{i-1}) \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,z); s \in T_i, z \in Z \},$$

where  $Z := \{y(s); y(\cdot) \in V\}$ , so

$$\beta \left( \int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \le$$

$$\le \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^n (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \overline{conv} \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, z); s \in T_i, z \in Z \} \right),$$

where

$$\int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,V(s)) ds := \left\{ \int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s,y(s)) ds; y(\cdot) \in V \right\}.$$

From above and by the properties of  $\beta$  we have

$$\beta\left(\int_0^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds\right) \le$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) \beta \left( \{ (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, z); s \in T_i, z \in Z \} \right) 
\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) (t - t_i)^{\alpha-1} \beta \left( f(T_i \times Z) \right) 
\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1}) (t - t_i)^{\alpha-1} g(\beta(Z)).$$

Using the continuity on  $[0, t - \eta]$  for the real valued function  $s \to (t - s)^{\alpha - 1}$ , we have that

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}(t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1}g(\beta(Z)) \le g(\beta(Z)) \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_i} \frac{(t - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} ds + \frac{\varepsilon(t_i - t_{i-1})}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \beta(Z)$$

and so

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - t_{i-1})(t - t_i)^{\alpha - 1} g(\beta(Z)) \le g(\beta(Z)) \int_0^{t - \eta} \frac{(t - s)^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} ds + \frac{\varepsilon(t - \eta)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \beta(Z).$$

Thus we obtain

$$\beta \left( \int_{0}^{t-\eta} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} f(s, V(s)) ds \right) \leq \frac{\delta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} g(\beta(Z)) + \frac{\varepsilon(t-\eta)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \beta(Z)$$

$$\leq g(\beta(Z)) + \frac{\varepsilon\delta}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \beta(Z).$$

$$(4.3.4)$$

Since

$$(QV)(t) \subset \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{t-\eta} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,V(s)) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{t-\eta}^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,V(s)) ds,$$

then by virtue of (4.3.3) and (4.3.4) we have

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \le g(\beta(Z)) + \frac{\varepsilon \delta}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\beta(Z) + 2\varepsilon, \ t \in T_{\delta}.$$

As the last inequality is true for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \le g(\beta(Z)), \ t \in T_{\delta}.$$

Using Lemma 1.5.1 and (h3) we have

$$\beta((QV)(t)) \le g(\beta(V(t))) \le g(\beta_c(V)), \ t \in T_{\delta}$$

and thus  $\beta_c((QV)) \leq g(\beta_c(V)) \leq \beta_c(V)$ . Using similar arguments as in the middle of the proof of Theorem 2.3 in [7], we can show that K is a closed convex subset of  $C_w(T_\delta, E)$ . Therefore, by a Schauder-Tichonov type theorem [7, Cor 2.1] it follows that the set of the fixed points of Q in  $\widetilde{B}$  is non-empty and compact, so the set of solutions of the problem (4.3.1) on  $T_\delta$  is non-empty and compact in  $C_w(T_\delta, E)$ .  $\square$ 

We end this paper with a remark. If for  $\alpha = 1$  we put  $D^1y(\cdot) = y'(\cdot)$ , then from Theorem 4.3.2 we obtain the following generalization of some known results (see [23, 53, 86, 87]).

**Corollary 4.3.1**. If  $f(\cdot, \cdot): T \times E \to E$  is a function such that all conditions from Theorem 4.3.2 hold, then the differential equation

$$\begin{cases} y'(t) = f(t, y(t)) \\ y(0) = y_0 \end{cases}$$
 (4.3.5)

has a weak solution on  $[0, \delta]$ .

### 4.4 Conclusions

In this chapter, we introduced and studied the notions of the fractional Riemann-Pettis integral and the fractional Caputo weak derivative. Using these tools we obtain an existence result for fractional differential equations in a nonreflexive Banach space equipped with the weak topology. It is well known that there exist functions  $x(\cdot): T \to E$  that are strongly mesurable and scalarly Lebesgue integrable on T, but they are neither Pettis integrable, nor Bochner integrable on T, and so  $x(\cdot)$  is also neither Riemann integrable, nor Riemann-Pettis integrable on T. An example is given by the function  $x(\cdot): [0.1] \to \mathbf{c}_0$  defined by

$$x(t) = \left(n\chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n}]}(t)\right)_{n\geq 1}, \ t\in [0,1].$$

We note that this function is Dunford integrable on T. Therefore, to define the notion of a fractional integral for the function  $x(\cdot)$  it will be necessary to use other

kinds of integral such as the Dunford integral, the Henstock–Kurzweil integral or the Henstock–Kurzweil–Pettis integral.

## **Bibliography**

- [1] G. Adomian and G. E. Adomian, Cellular systems and aging models, Comput. Math. Appl. 11 (1985), 283–291.
- [2] R. P. Agarwal, M. Belmekki, M. Benchohra, A survey on semilinear differential equations and inclusions involving Riemann Liouville fractional derivative, Adv. Difference Equ. (2009) 47. Art. ID 981728.
- [3] R. P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equation in nonreflexive Banach spaces, Communication in nonlinear Sciences and Numerical Simulation, (to appear).
- [4] R. P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Multi-term Fractional Differential Equation in nonreflexive Banach spaces, Advances in Difference Equation 2013, 2013:302.
- [5] R. P. Agarwal, V. Lupulescu, D. O'Regan, Ghaus ur Rahman, Weak Solution for Fractional Differential Equations in nonrelexive Banach spaces via Riemann-Pettis integral, Mathematische Nachrichten, (to appear)
- [6] A. Alexiewicz, W. Orlicz, Remarks on Riemann-integration of vector valued functions. Studia Math. 12(1951) 125-132.
- [7] A. Ben Amar, Some fixed point theorems and existence of weak solutions of Volterra integral equation under Henstock-Kurzweil-Pettis integrability, Comment.Math.Univ.Carolin. 52(2011) 177–190.
- [8] A. Ambrosetti, Un teorema di esistenza per le equazioni differenziali negli spazi di Banach, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 39(1967) 349–369.

- [9] W. Arendt, C. Batty, M. Hieber, F. Neubrander, Vector-Valued Laplace Transforms and Cauchy Problems, Monogr. Math., vol. 96, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001.
- [10] O. Arino, S. Gautier, J. P. Penot, A Fixed Point Theorem for Sequentially Continuous Mappings with Application to Ordinary Differential Equations, Funkcialaj Ekvacioj 27(1984) 273–279.
- [11] A. Babakhani, V. Daftardar-Gejji, Existence of positive solutions of nonlinear fractional differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 278 (2003) 434–442.
- [12] E. Bazhlekova, Fractional Evolution Equations in Banach spaces, Ph.D. Thesis, Eindhoven University of Technology, 2001.
- [13] M. Benchohra, F. Mostefai, Weak solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equations with integral boundary conditions in Banach spaces, Opuscula Mathematica, 32(1)(2012) 31–40.
- [14] M. Benchohra, J. R. Graef, F. Mostefai, Weak solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equations on reflexive Banach spaces, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ, 54(2010) 1–10.
- [15] K. W. Blayneh, Analysis of age structured host-parasitoid model, Far East J. Dyn. Syst. 4 (2002), 125–145.
- [16] P. L. Butzer, U. Westphal, An Introduction to Fractional Calculus. In: Applications of fractional calculus in physics (edited by Rudolf Hilfer), World Scientific Publishing, Singapore 2000, 1–85.
- [17] M. Cichoń, Weak solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Discuss. Math. Differ.Inc. Control Optimal 15(1995) 5–14.
- [18] M. Cichoń, On solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Analysis 60 (2005) 651–667.
- [19] M. Cichoń, I. Kubiaczyk, Kneser's theorem for strong, weak and pseudo-solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Ann. Polon. Math. 52 (1995) 13–21.
- [20] M. Cichoń, I. Kubiaczyk, A. Sikorska-Nowak, A. Yantir, Weak solutions for the dynamic Cauchy problem in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Analysis 71(2009) 2936–2943.

- [21] M. Cichoń, On bounded weak solutions of a nonlinear differential equation in Banach spaces, Functiones et Approximatio 21(1992) 27-35.
- [22] M. Cichoń, I. Kubiaczyk, A. Sikorska-Nowak, The Henstock-Kurzweil-Pettis integrals and existence theorems for the Cauchy problem, Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal 54 (2004) 279–289.
- [23] E. Cramer, V. Lakshmikantham, A. R. Mitchell, On the existence of weak solutions of differential equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 2(1978) 259–262.
- [24] S. Chow, J. D. Schuur, An existence theorem for ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 77(1971) 1018–1020.
- [25] V. Daftardar-Gejji, Positive solutions of a system of non-autonomous fractional differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 302 (2005) 56–64.
- [26] V. Daftardar-Gejji, Hossein Jafari, Solving a multi-order fractional differential equation using adomian decomposition, Appl. Math. Comput. 189 (2007) 541—548.
- [27] F. De Blasi, On a property of the unit sphere in a Banach space, Bull. Math. Soc. Sci. Math. R. S. Roumanie 21(1977) 259–262.
- [28] K. Deimling, Ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, LNM 596. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1992.
- [29] K. Diecthelem, The Analysis of Fractional Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010.
- [30] J. Diestel, J. J. Uhl, Jr., Vector measures, Mathematical Surveys, No. 15, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1977.
- [31] S. J. Dilworth, M. Girardi, Nowhere weak differentiability of the Pettis integral, Quaestiones Math. 18(4)(1995) 365–380.
- [32] J. Dieudonné, Deux exemples singuliers d'équations différentielles, Acta. Scien. Math. 12(1950) 38–40.
- [33] N. Dinuleanu, Vector measures, Pergamon Press, New York, 1967.

- [34] A. Dutkiewicz, S. Szufla, Kneser's theorem for weak solution of and integral equation with weakly singular kernal, Publications de L'institut Mathématique 77(91)(2005), 87–92.
- [35] R. E. Edwards, Functional analysis, Holt Rinehart and Wiston, New York, 1965.
- [36] S. Gautier, J. P. Penot, Existence des courbes integrales pour les champs de vecteurs faiblement continus, Publications Mathematiques de Pau, 1973.
- [37] R. F. Geitz, Geometry and the Pettis integral, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 169(2)(1982) 535–548.
- [38] G. Gripenberg, S. O. Londen, O. Staffans, Volterra Integral and Functional Equations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1900.
- [39] C. Gripenberg, Unique solutions of some Volterra integral equations, Math. Scand. 48(1981) 59–67.
- [40] A. M. Gomaa, Weak and strong solutions for differential equations in Banach spaces, Chaos, Solutions and Fractional 18(2003) 687–692.
- [41] R. Gordon, Riemann integration in Banach spaces, Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics 21(3)(1991) 923–949.
- [42] L. M. Graves, Riemann integration and Taylor's theorem in general analysis, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 29(1927) 163–177.
- [43] H. H. G. Hashem, Weak solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Journal of Fractional Calculus and Applications 3(1)(2012) 1–9.
- [44] E. Hernández, D. O'Regan, K. Balachandran, Existence results for abstract fractional differential equations with nonlocal conditions via resolvent operators, Indagationes Mathematicae 24(2013) 68–82.
- [45] W. M. Kadets, Non-differentiable indefinite Pettis integrals, Quaestiones Math.
- [46] S. Kato, On existence of solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Funkcial. Ekvac. 19(1976) 239–245.

- [47] M. Kerner, Gewöhnliche Differentialeichungen der allgemeinen Analysis, Prac Matematyczno
   Fizycznych 40(1932) 47–87.
- [48] W. J. Knight, Absolute continuity of some vector functions and measures, Can. J. Math. 24(5)(1972) 737–746.
- [49] W. J. Knight, Solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Duke Math. J. 41(1974) 437–442.
- [50] W.J. Knight, Existence of solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 86(1974) 148–149.
- [51] K. Kuratowski, Sur les espaces complets, Fund. Math. 15(1930) 301–309.
- [52] I. Kubiaczyk, S. Szufla, Kneser's theorem for weak solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, in: V. Lakshmikantham (Ed.), Nonlinear Equations in Abstract Spaces (1978), 387—404.
- [53] I. Kubiaczyk, S. Szufla, Kenser's theorem for weak solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Publ. Inst. Math. (Beograd) (N.S.) 32(46) (1982) 99–103.
- [54] I. Kubiaczyk, On a fixed point theorem for weakly sequentially continuous mapping, Disc. Math. Diff Inclusions 15(1995) 15-20.
- [55] V. Lakshmikantham, S. Leela, J. Vasundhara Devi, Theory of Fractional Dynamic Systems, Cambridge Academic Publishers, Cambridge, 2009.
- [56] V. Lakshmikantham, S. Leela, Nonlinear Differential Equations in Abstruct spaces, Pergamon Press New York,
- [57] L. Liu, F. Guo, C. Wu, Y. Wu, Existence theorems of global solutions for nonlinear Volterra type integral equations in Banach spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 309 (2005) 638–649.
- [58] K.S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, Wiley and Sons, New York, 1993.
- [59] A.R. Mitchell, Ch. Smith, An existence theorem for weak solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, in: V. Lakshmikantham (Ed.), Nonlinear Equations in Abstract Spaces (1978), 387—404.

- [60] M. E. Munroe, A note on weak differentiability of Pettis integrals, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 52(1946) 167–174.
- [61] K. Musial, Topics in the theory of Pettis integration, In: School of Measure Theory and Real Analysis, Grado, Italy, May 1992.
- [62] D. O'Regan, Fixed point theory for weakly sequentially continuous mapping, Math. Comput. Modeling 27(5)(1998) 1–14.
- [63] D. O'Regan, Fixed point theory for weakly sequentially closed mapps, Arch. Math. (Brno) 36(2000) 61–70.
- [64] D. O'Regan, Weak solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Appl. Math. Lett. 12 (1999) 101–105.
- [65] N. S. Papageargiou, Weak solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 33(1986) 407–418
- [66] E. Perri, On a Characterization of reflexive Banach spaces, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 69(1983) 211–219.
- [67] J. P. Pettis, On integration in vector spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 44(1938) 277–304.
- [68] R. S. Philips, Integration in a convex linear topological space, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 47(1940) 114–145.
- [69] G. Pianigiani, Existence of solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Bull. Ac. Pol. Math. 23(1975) 8537.
- [70] R. Rejouani. On the question of the Riemann integrability of functions with values in a Banach space, Vestnik Moscov. Univ. Ser. I Math. Meh. 26(1971) 75–79.
- [71] J. R. Ruiz, Integrales vectoriales de Riemann y McShane, Tesina de Licenciatura, Universidad de Murcia, 2002.
- [72] S. Szufla, Kneser's theorem for weak solutions of an mth-order ordinary differential equation in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 38(1999), 785-791.

- [73] H. A. H. Salem, On the fractional calculas in abstract spaces and their applications to the Dirichlet-type problem of fractional orders, Comptuers and Mathematics with Applications 59(2010) 1278–1293.
- [74] H. A. H. Salem, A. M. A. El-Sayed, Weak solution for fractional order integral equations in reflexive Banach space, Mathematica Slovaca 55(2)(2005) 169–181.
- [75] H. A. H. Salem, Multi-term fractional differential equations in Banach spaces, Mathematical and Computer Modelling 49(2009)829–823.
- [76] H. A. H. Salem, S. M. A. El-Sayed, A note on the fractional Calculus in Banach spaces, Studia Sci. Math. Hungar. 42(2)(2005) 115–130.
- [77] H. A.H. Salem, Monotonic solutions of multi-term fractional differential equations, Comment. Math. 47 (1) (2007) 1—7.
- [78] H. A.H. Salem, Global monotonic solutions of multi-term fractional differential equations, Applied Mathematics and Computation 217(2011)6597–6603.
- [79] H. A. H. Salem, M. Cichoń, On Solutions of Fractional Order Boundary Value Problems with Integral Boundary Conditions in Banach Spaces, Journal of Function Spaces and Applications Volume 2013 (2013), Article ID 428094, 13 pages.
- [80] S. Samko, A. Kilbas and O. Marichev, Fraction Integrals and Drivatives, Gordon and Breach Science Publisher, 1993.
- [81] S. Schwabik, Y. Guoju, Topics in Banach space integration, World Scientific, Singapore, 2005.
- [82] I. Singer, Linear functionals on the space of continuous mappings of a compact space into a Banach space, Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl. 2(1957), 301–315.
- [83] B. W. Solomon, On differentiability of vector-valued functions of a real variables, Studia Math. 29(1967) 1–4.
- [84] B. W. Solomon, Denjoy integration in abstract spaces, Memories of the American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1969.
- [85] G.F. Stefánsson, Pettis integrability, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 330(1993) 401–417.

- [86] A. Szep, Existence theorem for weak solutions of differential equations in Reflexive Banach spaces, Studia Sci. Math Hungar. 6(1971),197–203.
- [87] S. Szufla, Sets of fixed points of nonlinear mappings in functions spaces, Funkcial. Ekvac. 22 (1979) 121–126.
- [88] M. Talagrand, Pettis integral and measure theory. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 307, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, R. I. (1984).
- [89] E. V. Teixeira, Strong solutions for differential equations in abstract spaces, J. Differential Equations 214(2005) 65–91.
- [90] A. Wilansky, Topology for analysis, Ginn, Waltham, 1970.